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Characteristics of the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should
be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean
that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

The Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited (the
“Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made
all reasonable enquires, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1) the information contained in
this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading; (2) there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement in this report misleading; and (3) all opinions expressed in this
report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that
are fair and reasonable.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

| would like to present to the shareholders the annual
report of Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2012.

2012 has been a year full of challenges.

While we believed we had been making good progress
on our Brunei oil and gas project in early 2012, and
were led to believe, based on precedents and Petroleum
Brunei’s continuous encouragement to invest, that
the application to extend the exploration period for
18 months would be approved, the Consortium was
informed that the deadline to complete the exploration
on 27 August 2012 would not be extended.

Operator of the project has been working persistently to
appeal against the decision on disapproval of extension
to different levels of Brunei governmental agencies. The
Consortium remains committed to seeing that the full
scope of the exploration work program be completed
should the extension be reconsidered and granted. On
the other hand, the Group is seeking legal advices on
the appropriate action to be taken.

In 2012 and the year to come, the South Cebu oil and
gas project has been and will be the Group’s priority
project, followed by the Central Luzon gas project.
Funding for projects will be prioritized in this order. In
the past year exploration works of these two projects in
the Philippines were set back by rig arrangements and
funding requirement. After regaining our composure,
we are committed to implement the programs to drill
two exploration wells in South Cebu and one in Central
Luzon in the second half of 2013.

During 2012, progress of the coal mine project in San
Miguel, Philippines had been plagued by the tree
cutting permit application processes. We expect permit
processing to be completed in 2013. Mine development
will be carried out in full speed subsequently and
production is expected in late 2013.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

Technical experts of Sinotech Polyard Petroleum
Exploration & Development Research Institute Limited
continue to support the Group’s various projects and
potential acquisitions with their expertise, services and
advices in geophysics, geology, seismic interpretation,
drilling, exploitation engineering, etc.

China New Star Petroleum Drilling Services Company
Limited was a joint venture established to meet the
internal needs for drilling services by the various oil
and gas projects. During the third quarter in 2012, the
Company acquired the remaining interest from the joint
venture partner to better position ourselves for meeting
the Group’s drilling needs in a more efficient manner in
the coming year.

Meanwhile, following the Board’s persistent strategy,
management continues to strive to expand the asset
base and revenues through possible acquisition of
quality projects already in production, and also through
realignment to attain synergies and economies of scale.

Lastly, | sincerely express my gratitude to our Board
members for their contribution, to our shareholders for
their support, and to our management and staff for their
diligence.

For and on behalf of the Board
Kuai Wei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2013

Annual Report 2012 =& — = £ &

PR BERAEMRAEAAREARAR ZRMER
BEAEEREREBENER LY ES  wE
2 ERE #F DRIEZSESHBRESE
F B ARS R e

AEDETRHELMEFREERAAMKLE K
EABNZEERBEENRNTEHRERTE - 1
2012 F E3EE - ARRIMAE BN UEE E ik 2 iR
0 RENEEC AR ESETRFEFTEZ

FEE ,
=

BRI EEENS AT BERTEEEN &
REE > TEHERRKCENEERBNELER @ BB
BEPRBAMAEENEEREREA - RBBE
B EBUR R RUE MR -

b

RE AANBUBHEESRAREFLZER  &BR
ZXFBRERBMETZTMRE S BUARDRE -

RERERE
gz
Ee

BB —E—=F=R=-+=-H




Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited & HAMBEIFREEHERA T

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBNWmR DM

Financial Review

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group’s
turnover decreased by 24% to approximately
HK$462,000, as compared with approximately
HK$609,000 in 2011. The Group recorded a loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$61,342,000 in 2012 (2011: profit of approximately
HK$302,282,000).

The current year loss includes (1) an impairment
loss on the Coal Mine Project in the Philippines of
approximately HK$20,940,000 and (2) an impairment
loss of approximately HK$13,183,000 on Oil and Gas
Project in South Cebu, Philippines. The profit in 2011
mainly resulted from (1) the write-back of impairment
loss on interest in the Oil and Gas Project in Brunei of
approximately HK$215,077,000 due to increase in oil
and natural gas prices, and (2) the negative goodwill
of approximately HK$140,289,000 arising from the
acquisition of the Oil and Gas Project in South Cebu,
Philippines.

Administrative and other operating expenses for
the year ended 31 December 2012 amounted to
approximately HK$22,436,000, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$9,368,000 or 29%, as comparing
with last year. The decrease was mainly attributable
to reduction in business development activities and
overseas traveling expenses.

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2012
amounted to approximately HK$14,460,000 (2011:
approximately HK$28,474,000). The decrease was
mainly resulted from the redemption of the convertible
bonds in the amount of HK$276,352,231.22 on 6
September 2011.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBNWR DM

Liquidity, Financial Resources, Capital and
Gearing

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had net assets
amounted to approximately HK$1,290.8 million (2011:
approximately HK$1,372.5 million) and net current
liabilities amounted to approximately HK$16.2 million
(2011: approximately HK$18.9 million). The current ratio
was 53% (2011: 66%). The gearing ratio of the Group
based on the net debt to the shareholders’ equity was
15% (2011: 11%).

Operations of the Group are mainly conducted in
Renminbi (“RMB”), Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”), United
States Dollars (“USD”) and Philippine Pesos (“PHP”)
and its revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities and
borrowings are principally denominated in RMB, HKD,
USD and PHP, which do not pose significant foreign
currency risk at present.

Employee Information

The Group had a total number of staff of 43 (2011: 64).
Remuneration packages are reviewed on a periodical
basis. Bonus is awarded to employees according to
the assessment of individual performance. Besides, a
share option scheme was adopted by the Company,
pursuant to which the Directors may offer to any
eligible employees (including executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors) of the Company
and any of its subsidiaries, options to subscribe for
shares in the Company in accordance with the terms of
the share option scheme. However, save for the share
options granted prior to the listing, no other options have
been granted up to 31 December 2012. Staff cost was
approximately HK$10.1 million for the year as compared
with that of approximately HK$14.3 million in 2011.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBNWmR DM

Business Review and Prospects
Professional Services

Sinotech Polyard Petroleum Exploration & Development
Research Institute Limited and its subsidiary provided
technical services for oil and gas projects in geophysics
and geology based on market prevailing rates and
generated revenues of HK$462,000 in 2012.

Trading of Petroleum-related Products

During 2012, the Company generated no turnover from
sales of petroleum-related products.

Brunei Block M Oil and Gas Project

Notwithstanding a full 2012 work program framed
around the remaining work commitments under the
exploration phase to drill 3 additional wells was
planned, exploration phase of the project expired on
27 August 2012. The Consortium submitted requests
to Brunei National Petroleum Company Sendirian
Berhad (“Petroleum Brunei”) before expiration for
extension of time to complete the remaining work
commitments but was informed by Petroleum Brunei on
24 August 2012 that the exploration period would not
be extended. On 28 August 2012, Petroleum Brunei
demanded a compensation of US$16.35 million from the
Consortium, based on unfulfilled drilling commitments
arising from dispute about extension. On the same day,
the Consortium submitted an appeal to the Ministry
of Energy of Brunei on the rejection of request for
extension of term of the project.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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In these respects, the Consortium has sought legal
opinion on the appropriate action to be taken, including
taking legal action and seeking compensation from
relevant parties. The Board has considered the impact
of disapproval of extension and compensation on the
Group. The Board is of opinion that the Consortium
has reasonable grounds to raise fair claims against the
refusal to grant extension of exploration period and the
compensation clause is unenforceable with reference
to legal opinion sought by the Consortium. As the result
of appeal has not yet been determined up to the date
of this report, the Board has not taken into account any
financial impacts that might have been arisen.

Philippines Central Luzon Gas Project

The project’s original 2012 work program was for re-
entry work at the Victoria-3 well and drilling a new well.
However, the re-entry activity and the drilling a new well
were delayed due to rig availability. In 2012, project
management gave up the re-entry work and, instead,
conducted a further support study for a new drilling plan.
The support study, and new well design will continue
into 2013, and the new well was named A1. Spud is
expected to take place in the third quarter of 2013.

Philippines San Miguel Coal Mine Project

The project has progressed into the development phase.
Construction of the phase-2 road, which will extend the
vehicle-assessable road into the initial mining area,
began in the second quarter 2011 but was suspended
pending receipt of clearance from governmental
agencies overseeing environmental protection.
Construction can only be resumed upon the grant of tree
cutting permit.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Philippines South Cebu Oil and Gas Project

This project is situated in the Cebu lIsland, central
Philippines. During 2012, a field office has been
established in Alegria, Cebu, to carry out the work
program of drilling two new wells, followed by long term
testing plan and post-drilling study. However, the drilling
program was delayed due to rig availability and funding
requirement. Project management decided to finish
the preparation work for drilling program in early 2013,
and to defer the two-well drilling operation to the third
quarter.

Summary of Expenditure Incurred for Projects

A summary of expenditure incurred for the above
projects by the Group for the year ended 31 December
2012 is as follow:

FEEEEBMRIER
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Brunei Block M Oil and Gas Project M [E R mRIE B 2,168 2,000
Philippines Central Luzon Gas Project FFREFARRARIER 2,518 10,553
Philippines San Miguel Coal Mine Project JE/£E San Miguel HiEERE 1,312 1,623
Philippines South Cebu Oil and Gas Project JFREMESERIER 3,787 3,529
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Introduction

The Company had applied the principles and complied
with the code provisions and recommended best
practices set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2012,
by establishing formal and transparent procedures to
protect and maximize the interests of shareholders.

Code of Conduct Regarding Securities
Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Upon the Company’s specific enquiry, all Directors
confirmed that they have fully complied with the code of
conduct and the required standard of dealings regarding
securities transactions throughout the year ended 31
December 2012.

Board of Directors

The Board, which currently comprises 6 Directors, is
responsible for the Group’s corporate policy formulation,
business strategy planning, business development,
risk management, major acquisitions, disposals and
capital transactions, and other significant operational
and financial matters. Details of the Chairman and
the other Directors of the Group are set out in the
section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this report. All Directors have given
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group.

The Company is in compliance with Rule 5.05(1) and (2)
of the GEM Listing Rules, and has three independent
non-executive Directors and at least one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.
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With the various experience of both the executive
Directors and the non-executive Directors and the
nature of the Group’s business, the Board considers that
the Directors have a balance of skills and experience for
the business of the Group.

Board Meetings

The Board regularly meets in person or through other
means of electronic communication at least four times a
year. At least 14 days’ notice of regular Board meetings
is given to all Directors, who are all given an opportunity
to include matters in the agenda for discussion. The
Company Secretary assists the Directors in preparing
the agenda for the meetings, and ensures that all
applicable rules and regulations regarding the meetings
are observed.

The attendance records of the individual Directors at the
Board meetings during the year are set out below:

Executive Directors:

Mr. KUAI Wei

Mr. CAO Xuejun
(resigned on 25 July 2012)

Mr. ZHANG Xiaobao
(resigned on 25 May 2012)

Mr. LIN Zhang

Mr. LAl Chun Liang
(appointed on 25 May 2012)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. WANG Yanhui

Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping

Mr. WONG Kon Man Jason

BHAHEREEERA R
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T~
Attendance
HERE
HITEE
BE - 4/4
BEELE
(R=ZE——FtAZ+HHBT) 3/3
REEE LA
(R—Z——FRA-+HEBDT) 2/2
MESFEE 4/4
RiEREE
(W—E——FRA-+HBEZT) 2/2
BUFHTES:
FRIB IR AE 4/4
Shi) e 4/4
T L 4/4
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During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors
discuss and formulate the overall strategies of the
Group, monitor financial performances and discuss
the annual and interim and quarterly results, as well
as discuss and decide on other significant matters.
Execution of daily operational matters is delegated to
management. Apart from the regular Board meetings,
the Board meets on other occasions when a Board level
decision on a particular matter is required.

The Company Secretary records the proceedings of
each Board meeting by keeping detailed minutes,
including all decisions by the Board together with
concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any).
Drafts of Board minutes are circulated to all Directors
for comment and approval as soon as practicable after
the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely
information at all times as the Chairman ensures that
management will supply the Board and its committees
with all relevant information in a timely manner.
They may make further enquiries if in their opinion
it is necessary or appropriate to request for further
information. They also have unrestricted access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary, who
is responsible to the Board for providing Directors with
Board papers and related materials, and ensuring that
all proper Board procedures are followed and that all
applicable laws and regulations are complied with. If
considered to be necessary and appropriate by the
Directors, they may retain independent professional
advisors at the Group’s expense.

In case where a conflict of interest may arise involving
a substantial shareholder or a Director, such matter will
be discussed through an actual meeting and will not
be dealt with by written resolutions. Independent non-
executive Directors with no conflict of interest will be
present at meetings dealing with such conflict issues.
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The Board committees, including the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, have all adopted the applicable practices
and procedures used in Board meetings for all
committee meetings.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Group is Mr. Kuai Wei and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Group is Mr. Lai Chun
Liang. The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer are segregated and not performed by the same
individual to ensure segregation of duties.

The Chairman of the Group is primarily responsible for
the leadership and effective running of the Board, in
formulating the overall strategies of the Group, whereas
the Chief Executive Officer is primarily responsible for
the running of the Group’s business and implementation
of the Group’s strategies in achieving the overall
commercial objectives.

Non-Executive Directors

Code Provision A.4.1 provides that non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific term
and subject to re-election. The Company issues
appointment letters to each of the independent non-
executive Directors setting out the terms and conditions
of their appointment. The Company’s independent non-
executive Directors are required by the Company’s
Articles of Association to retire from office by rotation
at the Company’s annual general meeting. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election.
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The Company has received from each of independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
his independence, and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent in accordance with the
guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in
2005. The Remuneration Committee comprises three
members, namely Mr. Lai Chun Liang, an executive
Director, and Mr. Wang Yanhui and Mr. Pai Hsi-Ping,
both independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Pai Hsi-
Ping was appointed to replace Mr. Cao Xuejun as the
Chairman of the Committee on 27 March 2012.

The role and function of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment, and making recommendations
to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive
Directors. The Remuneration Committee should consider
factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration.
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Upon the recommendation of Remuneration Committee,
the Board has considered and reviewed the existing
terms of employment contracts of the executive
Directors and considers that the existing terms of
employment contracts of the executive Directors are
fair and reasonable. Details of the attendance of the
meetings of the Remuneration Committee during 2012
are as follows:

Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping
Mr. WANG Yanhui
Mr. LAl Chun Liang

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established by the
Board on 27 March 2012. The Nomination Committee
comprises three members, namely Mr. Lin Zhang, an
executive Director, and Mr. Wang Yanhui and Mr. Pai
Hsi-Ping, both independent non-executive Directors.
Mr. Wang Yanhui was appointed as the Chairman of the
Committee.

The duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and
making recommendations on any proposed change
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy, identifying individuals suitably qualified to
become Board members and making recommendations
to the Board on selection of individuals nominated
for directorships, assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors, and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the chief
executive.
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Details of the attendance of the meetings of the
Nomination Committee during 2012 are as follows:

Mr. WANG Yanhui
Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping
Mr. LIN Zhang

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28
and 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee include reviewing the Company’s
annual report, half-year report and quarterly financial
reports and providing advice and comments thereon
to the Board. The Audit Committee is also responsible
for reviewing and supervising the Company’s financial
reporting process and internal control procedures. It is
also responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of external auditor, approving the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditor, reviewing
and monitoring the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity, and meeting the external auditors at least
twice a year regarding the review of the financial reports
and accounts.

The Audit Committee comprises the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Yanhui, Mr.
Pai Hsi-Ping and Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason. Mr. Wong
Kon Man Jason is the Chairman of the Audit Committee.
The financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2012 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee, who was of the opinion that such
statements complied with the applicable accounting
standards, the Stock Exchange and legal requirements,
and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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The Audit Committee held 4 meetings during the year
under review. Details of the attendance of the Audit
Committee meetings are as follows:

Mr. WONG Kon Man Jason
Mr. WANG Yanhui
Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping

The Group’s unaudited quarterly and interim results and
audited annual results for the year ended 31 December
2012 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee,
which was of the opinion that the preparation of
such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards, the Stock Exchange and legal requirements,
and that adequate disclosure have been made.

Auditors’ Remuneration

The Company has appointed Pan-China (H.K.) CPA
Limited as the auditors of the Group. The Board is
authorised in the annual general meeting to determine
the remuneration of the auditors.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, a summary
of the total fee paid/payable in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided by the Company’s external
auditors is set out below:
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Audit services EZRE 438 420
Non-audit services FEEIZ IR — 205
Total @t 438 625

18



Corporate Governance Report
CEERRE

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Group.
In preparing the financial statements, the general
accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong have
been adopted, appropriate accounting policies have
been used and applied consistently, and reasonable and
prudent judgments and estimates have been made. The
responsibilities of the external auditors are set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report to the shareholders of the
Company on pages 37 to 40 of this annual report.

Directors’ Training

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has arranged in-
house trainings for Directors in the form of seminar and
provision of training materials. A summary of training
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received by Directors during the year according to the
records provided by the Directors is as follows:

Training on corporate
governance, regulatory
development and

other relevant topics
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Executive Directors: BTES !
Mr. KUAI Wei BlREE v
Mr. LAl Chun Liang RERKE v
Mr. LIN Zhang WEE A v/
Independent Non-executive Directors: BYFHTES:
Mr. WANG Yanhui FREESLE v/
Mr. PAIl Hsi-Ping BIBR S v
Mr. WONG Kon Man Jason THNELE v/
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Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of
the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary reports to
the Chairman and is responsible for advising the Board
on governance matters. For the year under review, the
Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

Shareholders’ Rights

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, any one or more shareholders, holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company,
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to
the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director of the Company

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person (the
“Candidate”) for election as a director of the Company
at a general meeting, he/she shall deposit a written
notice (the “Notice”) at the Company’s head office. The
Notice (i) must include the personal information of the
Candidate as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM
Listing Rules; and (ii) must be signed by the shareholder
concerned and signed by the Candidate indicating his/
her willingness to be elected and consent of publication
of his/her personal information. The period for lodgment
of the Notice shall commence on the day after the
despatch of the notice of general meeting and end no
later than seven (7) clear days prior to the date of such
general meeting.

Enquiries to the Board

Enquiries may be put to the Board through the
Company’s Investor Relations Department at Room
2602, China Merchants Tower, 200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong (email: info-hk @ ppig.com.hk).
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Communication with Shareholders

The Board and senior management maintain a
continuing dialogue with the Company’s shareholders
and investors through various channels including the
Company’s annual general meeting. The Chairman,
other members of the Board and external auditors
attend the annual general meeting. The Directors will
answer questions raised by the shareholders on the
performance of the Group. Our corporate website which
contains corporate information, quarterly and annual
reports, announcements and circulars issued by the
Group as well as the recent developments of the Group
enables the Company’s shareholders to have a timely
and updated information of the Group. Shareholders
can refer to the “Shareholders’ Communication Policy”
posted on the Company’s website for more details.

Constitutional Documents

During 2012, the Directors proposed to the shareholders
adoption of new Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company, which was approved
by way of passing special resolutions proposed at
an Extraordinary General Meeting, to adopt the new
Memorandum and Articles of Association in order to
bring the constitution of the Company in line with the
amendments to the GEM Listing Rules that came into
effect on 1 January 2012 and 1 April 2012.

Internal Control

The Board conducts reviews of the Company’s system of
internal control periodically to ensure the effectiveness
and adequacy of the internal control system. The
Company convenes meetings periodically to discuss
financial, operational and risk management controls.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Executive Directors

Mr. Kuai Wei, aged 51, is the Chairman and executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Kuai holds a master
degree in business administration from the University
of South Australia and has over 20 years of experience
in banking, electrical transmission and transformation
equipment and satellite broadcasting. Mr. Kuai had been
involved as a senior management member for strategic
planning, business development, operation and overall
management of various companies. He joined the Group
in July 2007.

Mr. Lai Chun Liang, aged 48, joined Polyard Petroleum
International Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company as an Executive Vice President in 2003.
He was appointed as the Chief Operating Officer of the
Group in September 2009, the Chief Executive Officer
in June 2010, and an executive Director in May 2012.
He holds a bachelor degree in electronic engineering
from the Feng Chia University, Taiwan. Prior to joining
the Group, he had over 10 years of experience in
the development of angiocarpy monitoring instrument
and research on GPS and navigation system. He
has over 15 years of experience in the operation and
management of companies.

Mr. Lin Zhang, aged 31, holds a bachelor degree in
economics from the Tianjin University of Commerce.
Prior to joining the Company in November 2007, Mr. Lin
worked in the Indonesia branch of Chinaoil USA (Macao)
Company Limited for two years and was responsible
for the petroleum exploitation, development and related
trading business.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Yanhui, aged 50, holds a master degree in
public administration from the Harvard University and a
doctor degree in management from the Xi’an Jiaotong
University. He was a senior economist and also an
adjunct professor in the Xi'an Jiaotong University. Mr.
Wang is now the vice president of Shenzhen Ping An
Bank (formerly known as Shenzhen Commercial Bank).
Mr. Wang was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in December 2007.

Mr. Pai Hsi-Ping, aged 55, holds a bachelor degree
in international trade from the National Chen-Chi
University, Taiwan. He has over 21 years of working
experience in management and is currently the Chief
Executive Officer of a consultancy company in Taiwan.
Besides, he previously held directorship and other major
appointment in three listed public companies in Taiwan.
He is currently the Director of Taiyen Biotech Company
Limited. In addition, he was the Director of Formosa
Plastics Corporation during the period from June 2006
to March 2008 and the Chairperson of Far East Air
Transport Corporation for the period from April 2008 to
May 2008. Mr. Pai was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company in July 2009.

Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason, aged 48, holds a
bachelor degree in business administration majoring in
accounting from the University of Hawaii, U.S.A.. He is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and has over 20 years of experience
in accounting, auditing and direct investment and is
currently a Managing Director of Fortune Capital Group
Limited, a private investment company. Besides, he
is currently holding directorship of several companies
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Wong was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in May 2010.
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Senior Management

Mr. Alfred Stawicki, aged 61, joined the Company as
Senior Vice President in May 2010 and was appointed
as the Chief Operating Officer of the Company in June
2010. He holds a bachelor degree of science, major
in geology from the University of Notre Dame and a
master degree of business and administration from the
University of Houston. Being a U.S.A. national and a
36-year veteran of the oil and gas industry, primarily
in the upstream sectors of exploration and production,
Mr. Stawicki began his career in 1974 with the Exxon
Corp. in Houston, and later joined Union Texas
Petroleum Corp. where he spent 18 years in positions
of increased responsibility including Development
Manager for Western U.S.A., Manager of Strategic
Planning and Exploration Manager for Union Texas
Asia Corp. Other career positions include Manager of
Geosciences for Kuwait Foreign Petroleum Exploration
Company and most recently Brunei Country Manager
for TAP Energy (Borneo) Pty Ltd. Mr. Stawicki has
extensive international experience and has held resident
positions in Calgary, Karachi, Islamabad, Dubai,
Jakarta and Brunei. He is an active member in the
American Association of Petroleum Geologists, Society
of Exploration Geophysicists, International Association
of Energy Economists, and European Association of
Geoscientists and Engineers. Mr. Stawicki heads up the
exploration and development operations and technical
management committee of the Group and is responsible
for all overseas projects undertaken by the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEAE[N

Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen, aged 54, joined the
Company as the Chief Financial Officer in August 2009.
Mr. Chan holds a bachelor degree in economics from the
University of Sydney in Australia. He is a member of The
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and also
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Chan has over 25 years of experience
in auditing, accounting and financial management and
previously worked for an international accounting firm
and a number of companies listed in Hong Kong and the
United States. Mr. Chan was appointed as the Company
Secretary of the Company on 9 September 2011. He
also assumes the role of Human Resources Director of
the Group.

Ms. Zhang Xia, joined the Company in August 2009 as
a Senior Engineer. Ms. Zhang holds a bachelor degree
in science, majoring in petroleum geology from the
Jianghan Petroleum Institute. She has over 30 years
of experience in geological research, stratigraphic
correlation, sedimentary facies analyses, hydrocarban
source rock research, exploration well appraisal
and evaluation, and well position deployment. She
participated in and was responsible for the Sinopec
Jianghan oil project and CNPC Xinjiang oil field projects
operated by China National Petroleum Corporation.

Mr. Qian Jie, aged 46, holds a doctorate degree in
oil and gas field development engineering from the
Chengdu University of Technology. Mr. Qian has over
22 years of experience in exploration, exploitation, EOR
in oil, gas, and CBM field. Prior to joining the Company,
he was the project manager for No.1 production plant
of Daging oil field, KBM oil field in Kazakhstan and
Osial oil field in Indonesia. He was appointed as Project
Manager in the Philippines in June 2010.
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The Directors would like to submit their report together
with the audited financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2012.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The Group is principally engaged in the
exploration, exploitation and development of oil, natural
gas and coal, and trading of petroleum-related products.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out
in note 41 to the financial statements. An analysis of
the Group’s performance for the year by business and
geographical segments is set out in note 13 to the
financial statements.

Results

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 41.
Dividends

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in note 33 to
the financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and

equipment of the Group are set out in note 14 to the
financial statements.
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Convertible Bonds

Details of movements in the convertible bonds of
the Company are set out in note 27 to the financial
statements.

Promissory Note

Details of movements in the promissory note of
the Company are set out in note 28 to the financial
statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the
Company are set out in note 32 to the financial
statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under
the Company’s Articles of Association and the laws
of Cayman lIslands, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a prorate basis to existing
shareholders.

Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years ended 31
December 2012 is set out on pages 183 to 184 of the
annual report.
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Acquiring Additional Interests in a Subsidiary

During 2011, Kanstar Environmental Technology Group
Limited (“Kanstar”, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) and Dongying Haifa Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Haifa”, a company established in the PRC)
jointly formed a subsidiary company incorporated
under the laws of Hong Kong, namely China New Star
Petroleum Drilling Services Co., Ltd. (“China New
Star”). The business of China New Star is oil well
drilling and provision of other related technologies and
services. The issued share capital of China New Star
is HK$30,000,000, which is 51% owned by Kanstar and
49% by Haifa. On 26 September 2012, Kanstar acquired
the 49% interest from Haifa for a total consideration of
HK$14,700,000. Subsequent to the acquisition, China
New Star became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group.

Share Options

The Company adopted two share option schemes
(hereinafter referred to as the “Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme” and the “Share Option Scheme”) on 26
June 2002 for the purpose of providing incentives to
the Directors and eligible participants, under which
the Company may grant options to the Directors
and employees of the Group and also other eligible
participants to subscribe for shares of the Company.
Certain Directors and participants have been granted
options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme to
subscribe for shares at an exercise price of HK$0.002
per share. All of these share options granted were
exercised or lapsed in or before 2008.

No share option under the Share Option Scheme
adopted by the Company was granted, exercised or
lapsed during the year.

Details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were set
out in the Prospectus issued by the Company on 5 July
2002.
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Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. KUAI Wei (Chairman)

Mr. CAO Xuejun (resigned on 25 July 2012)

Mr. ZHANG Xiaobao (resigned on 25 May 2012)
Mr. LIN Zhang

Mr. LAl Chun Liang (appointed on 25 May 2012)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. WANG Yanhui
Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping
Mr. WONG Kon Man Jason

By virtue of Articles 83(3), 84(1) and 84(2) of the
Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Lai Chun Liang,
Mr. Wang Yanhui and Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason will
hold office until the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company, and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at that meeting.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Mr. Kuai Wei entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of one year on 16 January 2008
which may be terminated by either party thereto giving
to the other not less than three calendar months’ prior
notice in writing and was renewed automatically upon
the anniversary date of the contract each year. Mr. Kuai
is entitled to have a monthly salary of HK$30,000 which
was determined with reference to market rates. He is
also entitled to a bonus for each financial year which is
at the Board’s discretion and determined by reference
to the Group’s results and performance for the financial
year concerned.
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Mr. Lai Chun Liang entered into a service agreement
with the Company from 25 May 2012 for a term of one
year, which may be terminated by either party thereto
giving to the other party a prior notice in writing of not
less than three calender months and was renewed
automatically upon the anniversary date of the contract
each year. Mr. Lai is entitled to a monthly salary of
HK$30,000, which was determined with reference to
market rates. He is also entitled to a bonus for each
financial year which is at the Board's discretion and
determined by reference to the Group's results and
performance for the financial year concerned.

Mr. Lin Zhang was appointed by the Company for a
term of one year commencing 1 November 2008 which
may be terminated by either party thereto giving to the
other not less than three calendar months’ prior notice
in writing and was renewed automatically upon the
anniversary date of the contract each year. Mr. Lin is
entitled to a monthly salary of HK$25,000 for 13 months
per annum which was determined with reference to
market rates. He is also entitled to a bonus for each
financial year which is at the Board’s discretion and
determined by reference to the Group’s results and
performance for the financial year concerned.

Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of one year
from 12 May 2010 which may be terminated by either
party thereto giving to the other party a prior notice in
writing of not less than 90 days and was renewed for
another year on 12 May 2011 and 12 May 2012. Mr.
Wong is entitled to a fixed monthly fee of HK$4,000
which was determined with reference to market rates,
and is not entitled to any variable remuneration.

Saved as disclosed above, none of the Directors
who is proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
terminable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

Biographical details of Directors of the Company and
senior management of the Group are set out on pages
23 to 26 of the annual report.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests
and/or Short Positions in the Shares,

Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company or any Associated Corporations

As at 31 December 2012, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules
5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the
securities transactions by Directors.

On 17 April 2012, Polyard Petroleum Resources
Development Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, purchased from Mr. Zhang Xiaobao, a former
executive Director of the Company who resigned on
25 May 2012, 9,900 issued shares of Sinotech Polyard
Petroleum Exploration & Development Research
Institute Limited (“Sinotech Polyard”), for a total
consideration of HK$1. Subsequent to the acquisition,
Sinotech Polyard became a 70% indirectly owned
subsidiary of the Company.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and/or
Short Positions in the Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2012, the interests and short
positions of persons, other than Directors or chief
executive of the Company, in the shares and/or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO or, who is, directly or indirectly, interested in
5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of any other members of the Group,
or substantial shareholders as recorded in the register
of substantial shareholders required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

Number of
Name of person shares held
ATER FRERGHE
(Note 1)
(Hfat1)

Lam Nam 1,274,255,931(L)
M (Note 2)

(Hfet2)

161,725,067(L)
(Note 3 and 4)

(B1:t3 X 4)
Silver Star Enterprises 1,274,255,931(L)
Holdings Inc.
(Note 2) ([fizt2)

China International Mining
Holding Company
Limited (Note 3)

R R E AR AR
(K 3)

161,725,067(L)
(Note 4)
(K15t 4)
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percentage
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g4 BRI
Interest of a controlled 69.76%
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Rt NG
Interest of a controlled 8.85%
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SR NI
Beneficial owner 69.76%
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Beneficial owner 8.85%
EmEBA
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Name of person

AT £

Sun Wai Pan
e gy

Chan Meng Kam
FREAS

Number of
shares held
FrislRGBEE

(Note 1)
(Hiat 1)

93,000,000(L)

100,000,000(L)
(Note 4)

BHAHEREEERA R

Approximate

(Htat4)

Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes long positions in shares or
underlying shares.

2. The entire issued share capital of Silver Star Enterprises
Holdings Inc. is beneficially owned by Mr. Lam Nam.

3. The entire issued share capital of China International
Mining Holding Company Limited is beneficially owned by
Mr. Lam Nam.

4. These shares may be allotted and issued upon exercise
of the conversion rights attaching to the convertible
bonds issued by the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012, the
Directors were not aware of any other person (other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company)
who had an interest or short position in the shares and/
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO or, who is directly or indirectly, interested in
5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of any other members of the Group,
or any other substantial shareholders whose interests or
short positions were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

percentage
Capacity of interest
g4 BOEEE L
Beneficial owner 5.09%
EmERA
Beneficial owner 5.47%
Em#EEA
Wizt -

1. TLIFEHEZA LR SEREAR ) 2 s -

2. Silver Star Enterprises Holdings Inc. 2 2 8B 817
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or of any other body corporate granted to
any Directors, their respective spouses or children under
18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by
them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors, their
respective spouses or children under 18 years of age to
acquire such rights in the Company or any other body
corporate.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, 100% of the Group’s total sales were
attributable to one customer.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or any
shareholders of the Company (who to the knowledge of
the Directors owns more than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company) had any interests in the Group’s
five largest suppliers or customers.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to and
within the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed
that there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the
Company’s issued shares at the latest practicable date
prior to the issuance of this report.

Competing Interests

None of the Directors or the management shareholders
of the Company (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
had any interest in a business which competes or may
compete with the business of the Group.
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Auditors

The financial statements for the year have been audited
by Pan-China (H.K.) CPA Limited who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Kuai Wei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2013
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Independent Auditor’s Report
iR 3 TS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

POLYARD PETROLEUM INTERNATIONAL GROUP
LIMITED

(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial
statements of Polyard Petroleum International Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 41 to 182, which
comprise the consolidated and the Company statements
of financial position as at 31 December 2012, and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
ended 31 December 2012, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.
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Except for the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidences as explained below, we conducted
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to
whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement. Because of the matters
described under the basis for disclaimer of opinion
paragraphs, however, we were not able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidences to provide a basis
for an audit opinion.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
Interests in a jointly controlled entity

As explained in the note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements, the application for extension of
exploration period, which was expired on 27 August
2012, had not been granted to a jointly controlled entity
(the “JCE”) in respect of exploration, exploitation and
development of oil and gas in Brunei. The JCE has filed
an appeal and has sought legal opinion in respect of
the dispute of extension. As the result of appeal has
not yet been determined up to the date of this report,
the management of the Company has not made any
impairment loss on the carrying value of interests in the
JCE. We were unable to ascertain the recoverability
of the carrying value of interests in the JCE of
approximately HK$1,085,619,000 included in the total
amount of approximately HK$1,389,541,000 as shown
in the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2012. Any adjustments or disclosures that
might have been found to be necessary in respect of the
carrying value would have a consequential significant
effect on the Group’s net assets as at 31 December
2012, and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended
and related note disclosures to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Provision for compensation

As further explained in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements and the above paragraph, JCE
was demanded for the payment of compensation of
approximately HK$127.5 million in respect of unfulfilled
obligation arising from the dispute of extension. The
management of the Company considers that no
compensation will be required if the dispute of extension
is resolved in favour of the JCE and no provision for the
compensation in the consolidated financial statements
was made by the Group in this respect. We were unable
to ascertain whether such provision should be made
since it depends on future outcome. Any adjustments or
disclosures that might have been found to be necessary
would have a consequential significant effect on the
Group’s net assets as at 31 December 2012, and of the
Group’s loss for the year then ended and related note
disclosures to the consolidated financial statements.

Disclaimer of Opinion

Because of the significance of the matters described
in the basis for disclaimer of opinion paragraphs, we
have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidences to provide a basis for an audit opinion.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements as to whether they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2012
and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and as to whether the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Emphasis of Matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to
note 3(b) to the consolidated financial statements which
indicates that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$68,410,000 for the year ended 31 December 2012
and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$16,179,000. These conditions indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as going concern. As
explained in note 3(b), the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis, the validity of which depends upon the Group’s
ability to improve the liquidity position to enable the
Group to meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due in the foreseeable future. The consolidated
financial statements do not include any adjustments
that would result from the failure to operate as a going
concern.

Pan-China (H.K.) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

20/F., Hong Kong Trade Centre
161-167 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong

Hong Kong S.A.R. China

22 March 2013
Tsang Chiu Keung
Practising Certificate Number: P04968
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Consolidated Income Statement

mealsx
For the year ended 31 December 2012
P oE—CFfH=1—HIFE

Note HK$’000 HK$’000
HaE BEFT B FT
Turnover =E 40 5] 462 609
Other revenue H b zs 5 1 52
Administrative and TR R H A 58
other operating expenses X (22,436) (31,804)
Operating loss ReEEE (21,973) (31,143)
Finance costs LA B 6 (14,460) (28,474)
Impairment loss on interests in B R B2
associates BE R R 16 (20,940) —
Impairment loss on interests in B R B 2
associates written back VENIEN SEi=E el 16 — 7,422
Share of results of associates FEAG B & A R LR 16 (13) (2)
Impairment loss on interests in RERZEG B EER
jointly controlled entities ZBEEE 17 (13,183) (5,301)
Impairment loss on interests in jointly 7k [E#5 4] T 8225
controlled entities written back ZREEEREKD 17 — 215,077
Negative goodwill arising on WHEMTB A RIEL
acquisition of subsidiaries ZEEHE 30 — 140,289
(Loss)/Profit before tax BREBAT(EE), SRR 7 (70,569) 297,868
Income tax FriS#t 8 2,159 1,109
(Loss)/Profit for the year AEE(FE) BT (68,410) 298,977
Attributable to: L
Owners of the Company AAREA A (61,342) 302,282
Non-controlling interests FEA%E Il 1 e 2 (7,068) (8,305)
(68,410) 298,977
(Loss)/Earnings per share BR(ER)EF 11
— Basic (in HK cents) — HARCEW) (3.36) centsfli  28.34 centsfll
— Diluted (in HK cents) — B5E(B) (3.36) centsfli  25.92 centsfll

AEEFRBEBORERTELLER -

All of the Group’s operations are classed as continuing.

BEPM 2 M FE A AR B M RKR 2 — B0 ©

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

meEEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2012
BT —F =1 —HFE

HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFT B F T
(Loss)/Profit for the year EE(FR) RF (68,410) 298,977
Other comprehensive income Hitzmkz
Exchange differences on BREBINEBTEEZ
translation of foreign operations ME 5 = (164) (122)
Total comprehensive income REE2HE RS
for the year PR (68,574) 298,855
Attributable to: L
Owners of the Company EN/NGTEZ 2= DN (61,494) 302,176
Non-controlling interests TR A (7,080) (3,321)
Total comprehensive income AEE2HE RS
for the year 4 zE (68,574) 298,855
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

n e B H AR R AR

For the year ended 31 December 2012
R-ZE——F+—_A=1+—4H

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 BT B F T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE

Property, plant and equipment M - BB k& 14 578 838
Interests in associates E’\H‘J?%’&T%% 16 60,945 81,898
Interests in jointly controlled entities 7 £ [F#5 H| & 285 17 1,389,541 1,393,203
Deferred exploration expenditure RIEH IR 18 22,415 19,826
1,473,479 1,495,765

CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Amounts due from associates JE B 8 X B FIR 20 15,085 13,370
Trade and other receivables JFE UK B 3R R H b fE UL FR IR 21 1,408 19,463
Cash and bank balances W& MIRITHEH 22 1,668 4,200
18,161 37,033

CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables H {th FE S 5RIE 23 (10,487) (13,048)
Amount due to a director ENEEIA 24 (1,005) (302)
Amount due to a shareholder JE T AR R R IR 25 — (34,494)
Bank borrowing HRITERK 26 (7,176) (8,099)
Convertible bonds AR E A 27 (15,672) —
(34,340) (55,943)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE (16,179) (18,910)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HWEER
LIABILITIES REAE 1,457,300 1,476,855
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nV_\ é/E\ZI- g%;lﬁ 5R 43—%
As at 31 December 2012
RZF———F+=A=1—H

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
st BT BEFT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Amount due to a shareholder FE AR R IR 25 (50,541) —
Convertible bonds AR E S 27 (104,982) (91,894)
Promissory note ESNE 273 28 (8,456) (7,842)
Deferred taxation RAERIIE 29 (2,478) (4,637)
(166,457) (104,373)
NET ASSETS FEE 1,290,843 1,372,482
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARR#HE
Share capital i &N 32 73,070 72,900
Reserves (A 33 1,085,774 1,145,903
Equity attributable to owners of RAREE A
the Company FE(L R 1,158,844 1,218,803
Non-controlling interests FEFE B | R 131,999 153,679
TOTAL EQUITY HWRER 1,290,843 1,372,482
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of REESEN_T—=F= A=+ B REET
directors on 22 March 2013. Ele
KUAI Wei LIN Zhang rfz wE
Director Director EBEF BF
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—E-_FFRH

Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
k=3 BT T B F T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB k& 14 21 60
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR 2 %E 15 24,895 24,895
Amounts due from subsidiaries NI E R 19 771,687 768,924
796,603 793,879
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Trade and other receivables U BR 3 N L i U 3k B 21 612 949
Cash and bank balances & MIRITH S 22 139 32
751 981
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables H e 58 23 (5,837) (5,568)
Amount due to a shareholder FEAT R R FROR 25 — (15,910)
Convertible bonds AR ES 27 (15,672) —
(21,509) (21,478)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES BFREBEME (20,758) (20,497)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EERARBER
LIABILITIES 775,845 773,382
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Amount due to a shareholder e AR R FUA 25 (12,333) =
Convertible bonds AR ES 27 (104,982) (91,894)
Promissory note ZINES 28 (8,456) (7,842)
Deferred taxation IERER IR 29 (2,478) (4,637)
(128,249) (104,373)
NET ASSETS FEE 647,596 669,009
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAERGHE
Share capital i@ 32 73,070 72,900
Reserves (ke 33 574,526 596,109
TOTAL EQUITY AR 647,596 669,009

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of KEFeN _T—=F=ZA-+-_HZEREKET

directors on 22 March 2013. E o
KUAI Wei LIN Zhang erE M=
Director Director o EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREBHR

For the year ended 31 December 2012
P _E—F A H=1—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KATEE AR

Convertible Non-

Share Share Special  Exchange Capital bonds  Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests Total

TER FiEa
Rx  ROER  GRRRE  EXGE  ERBRE  BERE RERH @t i Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B¥Tr  BEFr ERTn EBFTn BEFr BETn B¥Tn BT R R
At 1 January 2011 R=F——%-A-A 24,336 531,831 985 57 15,392 48,689 960 622,250 87 622,337
Total comprehensive income for the year TER2ENGREE - - - (106) - — 302282 302,176 (3321) 298,855
Issue of rights shares EhfthRH 9,155 45,711 - - - - - 54,032 - 54,932
Formation of a subsidiary RIMBAR - - - - - - - - 14,700 14,700
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHBAR - - - - - - - — 213 142218
Issuing expenses relating to rights issue BEER B TRX - (1,183) - - - - - (1,183) - (1,183)
Conversion of convertible notes BRATARZE 16,000 84,000 - - - - - 100,000 - 100,000
Shares subscriptions RERH 23409 117219 - - - - — 140,628 — 140,628
At 31 December 2011 RZE-—F+ZR=1-A 72,900 777,644 985 (49 15,392 48,689 303242 1,218,803 153,679 1,372,482
At1 January 2012 WN-F--%-F-H 72,900 777,644 985 (49 15,392 48,689 303242 1,218,803 153679 1,372,482
Total comprehensive income for the year TER2ENGREE - - - (152) - - (61,342)  (61,494) (7,080 (68,574)

Acquisition of additional interests in WENBAR BMER

subsidiares (Nofe 31) (Wis1) - - - - - - (100) (100 (14600)  (14700)
Issue of employee shares #EBRR 170 1,092 - - - - - 1,262 = 1262
Issue of convertible bonds BTaRES - - - - - 373 - 373 - 373
At 31 December 2012 RZF-—F+=A=1-A 73,070 778,736 985 (201) 15,392 49,062 241800 1,158,844 131,999 1,200,843
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= A ==
MEREMER
For the year ended 31 December 2012
A oFE——Ff A=+ —HIFE

—E-_FFRH

HK$’000 HK$°000
BYFTT B FT

OPERATING ACTIVITIES mEEK
(Loss)/Profit before tax BRE AT (E518), 5 F (70,569) 297,868
Adjustments for: PR
Interest income FLEHA (1) (2)
Interest expense FEFZ 14,460 28,474
Depreciation e 377 384
Share of results of associates il AN e 13 2
Impairment loss on interests in associates B N Bl e 2 R EE 1R

written back #[ol = (7,422)
Impairment loss on interests in associates NN ey N I=) ki 20,940 =
Impairment loss on interests in jointly REFEH E S 2

controlled entities TE RSB 13,183 5,301
Impairment loss on interests in jointly controlled  +t [F]3% Hi| & 82 # 25 Rl (E

entities written back Esia e — (215,077)
Negative goodwill arising on acquisition of WEMBAREELEZB/E

subsidiaries — (140,289)
Impairment loss on other receivables H b R 2 R EEE 601 —
Issue of employee shares EITRE KRG 1,262 =
Operating loss before movements in HEEETHRIZ

working capital K ER (19,734) (30,761)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other JFEE LT B 5K R L A FE T

receivables RIER A, () 2,754 (16,066)
Increase in amounts due from associates JiE Ui B & 2 R SRIE G AN (1,715) (8,215)
Decrease in other payables B th A< R IERL (4,403) (4,121)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING REXBMEREFR

ACTIVITIES (23,098) (54,163)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BRETE
Interest received BUFE 1 2
Investment in jointly controlled entities RERIEHI BB 2 IKE (9,521) (7,241)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME - BEREHE (117) (246)
Payments of exploration expenditure ENERFA ST TR (2,589) (8,479)
Net cash inflow on acquisition of subsidiaries ~ WEKB AT 2R LKA FRE — 81
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZEEMERESEHE (12,226) (15,883)
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For the year ended 31 December 2012
BE—F——F1-A=1T—HIFE

HK$’000 HK$’000
BYFTT B FT

FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Repayment of bank borrowing EERITEER (923) (76)
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares BITL R 2 FT1SR0R — 54,932
Issuing expenses relating to rights issues BRARRKR 2 FHTR = (1,183)
Interest paid BEARFLE (384) (32,589)
Investment in subsidiaries by FiRIEE G R

non-controlling interests MEARZZE = 14,700
Advance from a director REEEBR 703 301
Advance from a shareholder KERERR 17,560 21,540
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds BT MR E S 2 TS 5E 16,000 —
NET CASH GENERATED FROM FINANCING REZTEIFERETE

ACTIVITIES o206 57,625
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH HeRBESEEYRL FE

EQUIVALENTS (2,368) (12,421)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FEUzBEERBRESEEY

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 4,200 16,646
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes NS R B 2 R (164) (25)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FERZESRBRESEEY

END OF THE YEAR 1,668 4,200
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH HeERBESEEY

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ZEERD T
Cash and bank balances e MBI T fR 1,668 4,200
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General Information

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited
(the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. The registered office of the
Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and its principal place of business
is located at Room 2602, 26th Floor, China
Merchant Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 200 Connaught
Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong. These
consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the
functional currency of the Company.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding and the principal activities of its
subsidiaries are the exploration, exploitation and
development of oil, natural gas and coal, trading
of petroleum-related products and provision of
technical services.

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”)

New standards, amendments and interpretations to
HKFRSs that are effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2012.

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following new and revised Standards, Amendments
and Interpretations (“new and revised HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) that are effective
for accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2012.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2012

2. Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”)(Continued)

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)  Disclosures - Transfer of Financial Assets
HKAS 12 (Amendments)  Deferred Tax — Recovery of Underlying
Assets

The adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs
in the current year has no material effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the current and prior accounting periods.

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are
not yet effective, in the consolidated financial
statements.

HKFRSs (Amendments)  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2009-2011 Cycle except for HKAS1

(Amendments)”
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9 and
(Amendments) Transition Disclosures”
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments"
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements®
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements®
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities®
HKFRS 10, HKFRS Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint
11 and HKFRS 12 Arrangements and Disclosure of Interests
(Amendments) in Other Entities: Transition Guidance®
HKFRS 10, HKFRS Investment Entities®
11 and HKAS 27
(Amendments)
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement”

HKAS 1 (Amendments)  Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income"!
HKAS 19 (as revised in  Employee Benefits®
2011)

FER#HET REETE BT BREER
(MERBMBHREER D) (&)

BEMBASENSETE BE —ERUKEAE
(BFTK)
FRRAZ12R(BTA) EEHR — KERBEE

Rinsna] BRI B MRS LR HAKE
AEFFEERBESHFREZEAMBRLE
ERERERTE -

AEEHANEGRE P BRRER TS EME
HARERZ AT REERTB AR RELER -

ERRBEREER(BIIR) 2009F22011 FEHZ FE
it EEBETERE

%\}7/‘ @)
BENBREENRGR BEUBHAENEIHEA
RETHR(ETR) ERAHREERE

EAMKRLENEOE  HETAY
ERMHRERNE 10 FETFHAY
EBUEREENE1YE ALY
EARBREENE 128 REMERZEXZRE?
BABBREER GEIFHE  BELZHRREM
F10%  FUHR BRESORE  BRHEY
F12R(BITX)
ERHBRELNF10%  REFEY
FURREH
(fBEIA)
ERRBREEANE 13 AFEAEY
BASENEIR A2 ENEEL 225"
(BEIR)
BESHENE19% EERFF"
(ZE——FEE)
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Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKAS 27 (as revised in ~ Separate Financial Statements®

2011)
HKAS 28 (as revised in  Investments in Associates and Joint
2011) Ventures®
HKAS 32 (Amendments)  Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities®
HK(IFRIC) - Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of

a Surface Mine®

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
July 2012.

&) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2013.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2014.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2015.

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of the impact of these new and
revised HKFRSs upon initial application. So far,
the Group considers that these new and revised
HKFRSs are unlikely to have a significant impact
on the Group’s results of operations and financial
position.

HKFRS 7 Amendments issue new disclosure
requirements in relation to the offsetting models
of financial assets and financial liabilities. The
amendments also improve the transparency in the
reporting of how companies mitigate credit risk,
including disclosure of related collateral pledged
or received. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 January 2013. The application
of the amendments is unlikely to have any material
financial impact on the Group.

FER#H REIETE BT BREER
(IERBMBHREER D) (&)

ERE RS2 BUB#H%®
(ZF——F&E)

BRI ERF 285 RERBERARAELPEY
(ZF——F&ED)

ERGIHERF 2% EHIBEERAFAE"
(B3TK)
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288) —2EZ20%

& RITE——FtA—-HRARRRZFEH
AR -

®  RZT-=F—A—BRUEHBRZEES
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®  R-T-—NFE—A B NEBERZFEER
PR -

& RIT—RF—HA—HRARRRZFEH
AR -

AEEIEFEZEN] REEFTRBWHE RS
HURMFEAFZFE - EEBAIAL &
EERRZEH] BRI R TR se g %
AEEZ KERBENAIBRRBREATE -

BEMBREEE 7%)?({K§T$)ﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ7f
BEERMBEBEEFEEXZHRERTE © %

FEFTMES2RDANMREEER Z;ﬁ
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Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first
part of phase 1 of a comprehensive project to
entirely replace HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. This phase
focuses on the classification and measurement
of financial assets. Instead of classifying financial
assets into four categories, an entity shall classify
financial assets as subsequently measured at
either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis
of both the entity’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the contractual cash
flow characteristics of the financial assets. This
aims to improve and simplify the approach for the
classification and measurement of financial assets
compared with the requirements of HKAS 39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions
to HKFRS 9 to address financial liabilities
(the “Additions”). The changes only affect the
measurement of financial liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss using the fair value
option. For these fair value option liabilities, the
amount of change in the fair value of a liability
that is attributable to changes in credit risk must
be presented in other comprehensive income. The
remainder of the change in fair value is presented
in profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair
value change in respect of the liability’s credit
risk in other comprehensive income will create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
All other requirements in HKAS 39 in respect
of liabilities are carried forward into HKFRS
9. However, loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts which have been designated
under the fair value option are scoped out of the
Additions.
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Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9
in its entirety. Before this entire replacement,
the guidance in HKAS 39 on hedge accounting,
derecognition and impairment of financial assets
continues to apply. The Group expects to adopt
HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2015.

HKFRS 10 establishes a single control model that
applies to all entities including special purpose
entities or structured entities. It includes a new
definition of control which is used to determine
which entities are consolidated. The changes
introduced by HKFRS 10 require management
of the Group to exercise significant judgement to
determine which entities are controlled, compared
with the requirements in HKAS 27 Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements and HK(SIC)-
Int 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities.
HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
that addresses the accounting for consolidated
financial statements. It also includes the issues
raised in HK(SIC)-Int 12. The application of this
new standard is unlikely to have any material
financial impact on the Group.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint
Ventures and HK(SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled
Entities — Non-Monetary Contributions by
Venturers. It describes the accounting for joint
arrangements with joint control. It addresses
only two forms of joint arrangements, i.e. joint
operations and joint ventures, and removes
the option to account for joint ventures using
proportionate consolidation. The application of
this new standard is unlikely to have any material
financial impact on the Group.
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Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements
for subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates
and structured entities that are previously included
in HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements, HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures
and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates. It
also introduces a number of new disclosure
requirements for these entities.

Consequential amendments were made to HKAS
27 and HKAS 28 as a result of the issuance of
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12. The Group
expects to adopt HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS
12, and the consequential amendments to HKAS
27 and HKAS 28 from 1 January 2013.

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of
fair value and a single source of fair value
measurement and disclosure requirements for
use across HKFRSs. The standard does not
change the circumstances in which the Group is
required to use fair value, but provides guidance
on how fair value should be applied where its use
has already been required or permitted under
other HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt the
standard from 1 January 2013. The directors
anticipate the application of the new standard may
affect the amounts reported in the consolidated
financial statements and result in more extensive
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKAS 1 Amendments change the grouping of
items presented in other comprehensive income.
Items that could be reclassified (or recycled)
to profit or loss at a future point in time (for
example, upon derecognition or settlement)
would be presented separately from items which
will never be reclassified. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments from 1 January 2013. The
amendments affect presentation only and have
no impact on the Group’s financial position or
performance.

HK(IFRIC) — Int 20 applies to waste removal costs
that are incurred in surface mining activity during
the production phase of the mine (production
stripping costs). Under the Interpretation, the costs
from this waste removal activity (stripping) which
provide improved access to ore is recognised
as a non-current asset (stripping activity asset)
when certain criteria are met, whereas, the
costs of normal on-going operational stripping
activities are accounted for in accordance with
HKAS 2 Inventories. The stripping activity asset
is accounted for as an addition to, or as an
enhancement of, an existing asset and classified
as tangible or intangible according to the nature of
the existing asset of which it forms part.

The directors of the Company are in the process
of making an assessment of the potential impacts
of these new and revised HKFRSs and they are
so far concluded that the application of these new
and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements.
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3. Principal Accounting Policies 3. FESHEE

(a) Statement of compliance (a) BE~FEH

The consolidated financial statements have RAENBHRERDBEEESHMASHE
been prepared in accordance with Hong M2 BBMBRELERFE - LI - 4R
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued EMBBRERBEEEREXIMERA
by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated AIAIZER EEH ETHRAIREE QA RGE
financial statements include applicable BT E 2 ERAFE -

disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

(b) Basis of preparation (b) mMABEE
The consolidated financial statements have RETHBIAERAFETEN  HR
been prepared on the historical cost basis RFa M BRERMRAZFTEEERE
except for certain financial instruments that SRR ZEEABIRHBRAEE
are measured at fair values. Historical cost ZATFEREBERE -

is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for assets.

The preparation of the consolidated financial RREBMEREENFERGEE M ER
statements in conformity with HKFRSs xE EHEBRESETEAZEHE - &
requires the use of certain critical accounting BETENREARERE 2 5T BURRE
estimates. It also requires management to 5 B H o

exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies.

56



Annual Report 2012 =& — = & £

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B E|RME

Eﬁ;\

3.

December 2012
T—HILFE

Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2012,
the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$68,410,000 and, as of that date,
the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$16,179,000. These
conditions indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast doubt
about the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The directors of the Company have taken the
following measures to mitigate the liquidity
issues faced by the Group and to improve its
financial position which include, but are not
limited to, the following:

(i) The Company intends to negotiate with
potential strategic investors in respect
of a possible equity investment in the
Company;

(i) The Company has reviewed the
Group’s financial and operational
position, and is taking steps to improve
cash flow management of the Group
with a view to conserve productive
assets and operations; and

(iii) The substantial shareholder has agreed
to provide continuing financial support
for the Group to meet its liabilities as
and when they fall due.

3.

FE

(b)
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3. Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Provided that the above measures can
successfully improve the liquidity position
of the Group, the directors of the Company
are satisfied that the Group will be able to
meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company
are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements on
the going concern basis. Should the Group
be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write
down the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and liabilities as current
assets and liabilities. The effect of these
adjustments has not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities (including special
purpose entities) controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where
the Company has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

3.

(b)

(c)
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Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(c)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Income and expenses of subsidiaries
acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the effective
date of acquisition and up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies into line with
those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances,
income and expenses are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership
interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests
in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interests
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.
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Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(c)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership
interests in existing subsidiaries
(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a
subsidiary, it (i) derecognises the assets
(including any goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the
date when control is lost, (ii) derecognises
the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interests in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost (including any
components of other comprehensive income
attributable to them), and (iii) recognises
the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest, with any resulting
difference being recognised as a gain or
loss in profit or loss attributable to the
Group. When assets of the subsidiary are
carried at revalued amounts or fair values
and the related cumulative gain or loss has
been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
directly to retained earnings as specified by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement or, when applicable, the cost
on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a jointly controlled entity.

(c)
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Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(d)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are
recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and
assets or liabilities related to employee
benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19
Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related
to share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree
are measured in accordance with
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting
policy below); and

3.
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Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(d)

Business combinations (Continued)

J assets (or disposal groups) that
are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in
accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the
sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree
(if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after
reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

3.
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3. Principal Accounting Policies 3. FESHBEE)

(Continued)

(d) Business combinations (Continued) (d) EBEHE)
Non-controlling interests that are present JEEHIMER R A AR - BB
ownership interests and entitle their holders BEEARBEERL O IhEREEF
to a proportionate share of the entity’s net B B ¥R A FEERIEEH
assets in the event of liquidation may be IR I G B E R AR B EFE
initially measured either at fair value or at EHRREBENE o sTEEEAREARR
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate SiEE - HMIEEGEEREREAT
share of the recognised amounts of the EXEEBVBMEEAMET 2 EE
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The FFE o
choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types
of non-controlling interests are measured at
their fair value or, when applicable, on the
basis specified in another HKFRS.
When the consideration transferred by MAEBEREREHPEE2REBRE
the Group in a business combination FIARETHEEZEEREE A
includes assets or liabilities resulting from REZHEKEHHAFEFELR AR
a contingent consideration arrangement, E¥FEHPER RE LD - KA
the contingent consideration is measured at REZATFEEZH(NFET=HMEAR
its acquisition-date fair value and included AP EIEFAE - WHHESIREWKE
as part of the consideration transferred in WEELAEFAE - St BEAR AR
a business combination. Changes in the [FrEfEI(TEBELKERR—FA)
fair value of the contingent consideration RRBEBBTFECESERBERESRTE
that qualify as measurement period SNEFT S| Bz A -

adjustments are adjusted retrospectively,
with the corresponding adjustments
against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the
“measurement period” (which cannot exceed
one year from the acquisition date) about
facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.
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3. Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(d)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in
the fair value of the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period
adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset
or a liability is remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates in accordance with HKAS 39,
or HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets, as appropriate,
with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in
stages, the Group’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control) and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests
in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss where such treatment would
be appropriate if that interest were disposed
of.

FE

(d)

SETHEE)

VAR EFENHFABZARNKE  H
NP EEE 2 BERARDBURARHARE
WD - DEREE I XARBLE
REERBREARNEHE - MEARERS
ERERAAR - DBAREEXBEZ
KAREBREF B ERNEIORHE
BEEUNEI7HAE - AARRERE
AEEER) R HRE B MEN
B MBEABRBRETHER -

HEB A OEERTR  NEB LR
B R R EN - EE Y A HI (A
AEBESZHIEER) 2 AFE - AT
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Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business
combination is incomplete by the end
of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports
provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during
the measurement period (see above), or
additional assets or liabilities are recognised,
to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date that,
affected the amounts recognised at that date.

if known, would have

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a
business is carried at cost as established
at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination.

3.

(d)

(e)

SETEE

/435 )
( 45 )

R & Gt L 2 2RI AR THRER
A ZVITERTRE  AEBAIBNA
TREREZHBEERETLRE - &
FEEBENEMRR(R LX) REY
HE - ERBINEEXAE  ARKR
ESEERKBRACFESERBERZ
AR MEABTZEFER  SeFE
RERERZLRE -

2]
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WEEXBMEEZBBREBEEAS
ZRAR(R EX @R BRI AR
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3. Principal Accounting Policies 3. SEIBE(E)
(Continued)
(e) Goodwill (Continued) (e) FE(E)
A cash-generating unit to which goodwill }EﬁiEK?TTHW%ZMU\?}"\?E&HEE‘%E%EE
has been allocated is tested for impairment R ED Eﬁﬁéﬁzfﬂiﬁi
annually, or more frequently when there is i&ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ%ﬂﬁf%ﬁ%h‘]
indication that the unit may be impaired. BRI Z N T F—
If the recoverable amount of the cash- TH&@@%E?EM&E%&E%%MZEEETE
generating unit is less than its carrying B BEBEE SO ERKZEME
amount, the impairment loss is allocated DREZEMEEZREE  EEBIBEZ
first to reduce the carrying amount of any BAREBEEERAMBE LS
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the Bz KM EE - & 2 EFREEE
other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis BEERNERER -
based on the carrying amount of each asset REER BB o

in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in subsequent periods.

Thiﬁﬁﬁiﬁuz

BEZREBETE

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating PERERSELS
unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is R AREENMEER S5 -

\

included in the determination of the profit or
loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on 7 £ [ I i B e
the acquisition of an associate is described R -
below.
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3. Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

()

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the
Group has significant influence and that is
neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities
of associates are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting, except
when the investment is classified as held
for sale, in which case it is accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are initially
recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associates. When the Group’s
share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

FE

()

SETHEE)

REBERFZRE

BERRDAEEREDEEATEN
B IMBRAIHIN A LLR 2
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BRAFLEZFRPDEERR RS
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REERAERANEBEEZBE QR Z
BEahkEteEbamELRE - EX
SERG-—FHBEEARBREBHAEE
Rz E R R 2 =R (BREMER
BRAEE N EARREFEEPH
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3. Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)

()

Investments in associates (Continued)

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of an associate recognised at the
date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount
of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied
to determine whether it is necessary to
recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group’s investment in an associate.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less
costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised forms part of
the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to
the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

3.

FE

()

SETHEE)

RBE AR ZRE(HE)

WERABEARNEEREBEEADESR
PAHFEZEHERA TENEE  AER
FARBBEAAFEZER BRARB
2 EHBREFARERHEE -

AEBREARMNEE  BERKAE
BZRFRERBHEBRAZZE  ©
B AHAERBERNN IR FER -

BREGHERIE 9 ZHRE TIAER -
NEEERRERAEBNBERRZ
REBBEMAIRE - NFEE - ZBEK
Aok EE(BREHE)GREEE
BT ERE 6 HEERMENE-REE
ZHNETRERR  TERLEERA
Yel & 2R (B E A EEEAFEBHEX
Rz®BimE)BREE - AR R
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Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

()

(9)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with its
associate, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that are not related
to the Group.

Interests in joint ventures

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement
whereby the Group and other parties
undertake an economic activity that is subject
to joint control (i.e. when the strategic
financial and operating policy decisions
relating to the activities of the joint venture
require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control).

When a group entity undertakes its activities
under joint venture arrangements directly,
the Group’s share of jointly controlled assets
and any liabilities incurred jointly with other
venturers are recognised in the financial
statements of the relevant entity and
classified according to their nature. Liabilities
and expenses incurred directly in respect
of interests in jointly controlled assets are
accounted for on an accrual basis. Income
from the sale or use of the Group’s share
of the output of jointly controlled assets,
and its share of joint venture expenses,
are recognised when it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the
transactions will flow to/from the Group and
their amount can be measured reliably.

()

(9)

BHBE(E)
R RE ()
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3. Principal Accounting Policies 3. FEGHBEE)
(Continued)
(g) Interests in joint ventures (Continued) (9) REgLEIERE)
Joint venture arrangements that involve the BRRIECEREE=RB I ER 2
establishment of a separate entity in which EEIEETH B EREGEE -

each venture has an interest are referred to
as jointly controlled entities.

The Group reports its interests in jointly BROBARBIEHE CIRERERBHNK
controlled entities using the equity method of i&%ﬁﬂ”%SHﬁHf’F%&#m@Jﬁ}Z&
accounting (as detailed in note 3(f)), except ERIEEEEBTEIN  AEE AR
when the investment is classified as held SEAGEE R M EE3(f) 2 ME L RE
for sale, in which case it is accounted for HIERE R -

in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued

Operations.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of EWEAEEN L RIEH B gD mE
the Group’s interest in a jointly controlled EZEMEENBERAEERAEBE O
entity is accounted for in accordance with FEAZEBZEFBEARR EXZ
the Group’s accounting policy for goodwill SEHEER) ©

arising in a business combination (see the

accounting policy above).

When a group entity transacts with its WM—EEEREEARZESNEERS
jointly controlled entity, profits and losses B 57 HEE %‘J%%ﬁ?&%ﬁﬁ?‘iZ?@ﬁﬁR
resulting from the transactions with the BEABAERAZEHEE  EnlAEE
jointly controlled entity are recognised in the EEZBRAT  AQEAEEZGRER
Group’s consolidated financial statements SRR FER ©

only to the extent of interests in the jointly
controlled entity that are not related to the
Group.
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Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(h)

(M

Accounting for production sharing
contracts

Production sharing contracts constitute
jointly controlled operations. The Group’s
interests in production sharing contracts are
accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements on the following bases:

(i) the assets that the Group controls and
the liabilities that the Group incurs; and

(i) the share of expenses that the Group
incurs and its share of income from
the production according to the terms
stipulated in these contracts.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable.
Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
measured reliably. Revenue is recognised in
profit and loss as follows:

(i) revenue from provision of technical
services is recognised when services
are rendered; and

(i)  Interest income is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

3.

(h)

BB ()

LsE#SaHNzEH AR

EE#EDQOBRHAREHER - A&
BRNEEBD AN 2R IIRATER
FHABRE MR ¢

(i) AKERVIZBEERAKSEES
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3. Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

)]

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment loss, if any.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost
or valuation of items of property, plant and
equipment, after taking into account of their
estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives commencing on the date of
completion of construction for the intended
use, at the following rates:

Plant and equipment 3'/5% to 25% per annum
Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over their expected useful lives
on the same basis as owned assets or,
where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

An item of property, plant and equipment
is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income in the year in which the item is
derecognised.

3.

1)

BHBE(2)

M BERRE

ME - BB MR TR AN R = R AT
ERHRRERE(INA)IR -

ME - BEMRRERBOITE  REAR
TRBEE ARG 2 B R AE AEAE
MY Et R A A RSEEE) - KB
ORI T DI F R MEHE AR A (E

R K 5% FE3",% % 25%
RIERERNITE2EENNEBER
ERAERRAERR(RREE)RES
BAEMRRZEEINE -

ME - BEMERERERLERNE#
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BMRRFBORER « BEBURBREL
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3. Principal Accounting Policies 3. XESEBEE)
(Continued)
(k) Leasing (k) T#
Leases are classified as finance leases RN AMERE A A 2 2 K30 R
whenever the terms of the lease transfer o N O REER TABAZEY B A
substantially all the risks and rewards of FETY - FTE MR NY| A& %A
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are %47 o

classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor REFESHHEA

Amounts due from lessees under finance MEMREABAZRZRTVIRAEBERE
leases are recognised as receivables at the BEE T FIREMERABEIRTIE - g
amount of the Group’s net investment in the BREWATIR2TERSE ik
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to MAEBEEBAEE 2 FIREMEL ZE
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant TFREHEK o

periodic rate of return on the Group’s net
investment outstanding in respect of the

leases.

Rental income from operating leases is RIS SRS IR EERE Y F
recognised on a straight-line basis over the BN B 45 TR - R REHR&
term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs ERELEZYISEEXRATIIMARESR
incurred in negotiating and arranging an ECIREE  WHHEHIREGERED -

operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3. Principal Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(k)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially
recognised as assets of the Group at their
fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability
to the lessor is included in the consolidated
statement of financial position as a finance
lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between
finance expenses and reduction of the lease
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance expenses are recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless they
are directly attributable to qualifying assets,
in which case they are capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s general policy
on borrowing costs (see the accounting
policy below). Contingent rentals are
recognised as expenses in the periods in
which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term, except where another systematic
basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased asset are consumed. Contingent
rentals arising under operating leases are
recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

3.

FE
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FEBERERBA
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3. Principal Accounting Policies 3. FESHBEE)
(Continued)
(k) Leasing (Continued) (k) HY(E)
The Group as lessee (Continued) KEBEDBRBA ()
In the event that lease incentives are RETM S EHERWIGHS R/ - Z
received to enter into operating leases, such EREERBAE RPN SEENE
incentives are recognised as a liability. The BERE ST W EINRIE B /R - BRIE
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised B ERELERTARKREZKRER
as a reduction of rental expense on a LABEREIR A E B E < KB =N % F5 [
straight-line basis, except where another ERHR B FEBRAN

systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased asset are consumed.

() Foreign currencies () 5

In preparing the financial statements of REEREE VR ERE  UZER
each individual group entity, transactions N B2 INEHOINEVETZRETY
in currencies other than the entity’s AR S BH 2 BRITE XLk - RIS H
functional currency (foreign currencies) R DAINEFIEZEMIBE A A ZH
are recognised at the rates of exchange TEXRSEHHME - QINEEE BIRQT
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. BYRZIEERBEUEEAFEZR
At the end of the reporting period, monetary ZIRITEREHIAE o LAINEFE S B 2N
items denominated in foreign currencies FTECEERIBBE N TENBRE -

are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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3. Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(I) Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences on monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise except for:

J exchange differences on foreign
currency borrowings relating to assets
under construction for future productive
use, which are included in the cost of
those assets when they are regarded
as an adjustment to interest costs on
those foreign currency borrowings;

o exchange differences on transactions
entered into in order to hedge certain
foreign currency risks (see the
accounting policies below); and

J exchange differences on monetary
items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement
is neither planned nor likely to occur
(therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation),
which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified
from equity to profit or loss on
repayment of the monetary items.

FESTEERE)

U}

S (&)

HHWIEEMERZBE DR EEHBRIE
SR - AT RIERI -

s FHRERREERZZERE
EZELZR ZEEBENRS
SNERBEMBRAZFHEBME A
AEBEZINA

s  REMETIHERBMAIZZR
HZEAEB(RTXZEFK
®) R

. FEUR SR FE G INET 2 B TE B
WEEH =8 MEBRETEEE
SPAANA e EE (A AEINER
FIRE 2 —8D)  DREMEE
WERAYLHER  TREEER
MIBERHEREN Y EAEE -
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3. Principal Accounting Policies 3. FESHBEE)

(Continued)

(I) Foreign currencies (Continued) () shEEE)
For the purposes of presenting consolidated H2IEREMBRERME - AEBEEHI
financial statements, the assets and BECEENBEURSHRESR R ZE
liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations TERUAREEZ 255k (A1)
are translated into the presentation currency B - WA RFZIER ik FHEx
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using BE - BRIEAAERHBEFELE - RN
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each WLERT - BIEARSE B ZEX - T
reporting period. Income and expense items EEELZBE) R 2 E K #
are translated at the average exchange R WHNE X 2 i 2T (BT AR
rates for the period, unless exchange Bl MR (B )) o
rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading
of foreign currency translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. REE—FBINEB(BNHEARSER—
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in KBINEB 2 2R - PREEHEB
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving EEINER 2 — KRB AT 2 =S 2
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes HE - PRAEHBEEIINEB 2 —R
a foreign operation, a disposal involving HE R FI S 2 R 2 HE kS
loss of joint control over a jointly controlled RREHBEBINER 2 — K& R T
entity that includes a foreign operation, or a ZERZENZHE)R  HARFESR
disposal involving loss of significant influence AEEZEBRERART ZAAER
over an associate that includes a foreign EREENOEEER

operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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3. Principal Accounting Policies 3. FESHBEE)
(Continued)
(I) Foreign currencies (Continued) () shEEE)
In relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary AT HE—RMB AR W REZAK
that does not result in the Group losing SEXEEHZMB AR 2EH# - BliZ
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate LA RETE R =R EFHRB AT
share of accumulated exchange differences MR - M TRIBE AR o ¥RFT
is re-attributed to non-controlling interests BEAME S L E (BB HEHE QT
and are not recognised in profit or loss. HEZESEE EENANEFBLREEA
For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial ?Q‘E. NS EESIE) - IR FIE RET
disposals of associates or jointly controlled EREESFHEEER

entities that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit

or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on W INERSFTE £ P B R AT RS 7] 34
identifiable assets acquired arising on FEEATEES  EEZREINERKZ
the acquisition of a foreign operation are AEEHARBRRE  RRBREPRERAZ
treated as assets and liabilities of the ERME -  TEARELEZENERAE
foreign operation and translated at the rate HiFEE—EPER -

of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in equity under the
heading of foreign currency translation
reserve.
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3. Principal Accounting Policies 3. S BEE)

(Continued)

(m) Mineral exploration and evaluation

(m) FRYENIR R B

“EFR

expenditure

Ongoing costs of acquisition, exploration and
evaluation are capitalised as tangible assets
in relation to each separate area of interest
in which rights to tenure of the area of
interest are current and in respect of which:

(i) such costs are expected to be
recouped through successful
development and exploitation of the
area or alternatively by their sale; or

(i) exploration and evaluation activities
in the area have not yet reached the
stage which permits a reasonable
assessment of the existence of
economically recoverable reserves, and
active and significant operations are
continuing.

Once commercial reserves are found,
exploration and evaluation assets are
tested for impairment. No depreciation
and/or amortisation is charged during the
exploration and evaluation phase.

Exploration and evaluation assets are
assessed for impairment when facts and
circumstances suggest that the carrying
amount of an exploration and evaluation
asset may exceed its recoverable amount.

All exploration permits are treated as
separate areas of interest.

Once an area of interest enters a
development phase, all capitalised
acquisition, exploration and evaluation
expenditure is transferred to exploration
costs within property, plant and equipment.

WiE - BREF G 2 RBERAERER
ERgBURRER BV EE  HE

B2 EFERARE @ T
b=

(i) TEERZSKARE BRI R
FREEaZ i @ sk B R 45 & i e [El
%

(i) MEztEz &E KT HEE MR
EHMARTAETEEE LA RK
HEZFEEZHEE mMEBRE
NEETITEHETT -

BESEABEENRE - BRRTE
BETEITREA TR R
B TEERIER, SHE -

MBERERBERBETNYREFEEER
RREAHETTKEESRE - AHRRFEE
EEEITRERME °

Fr B BV RAT I B R AR B L i s B )

ERmRENEAFERER MBEZER
Ll g - RN FERAXBREEE -
55 B iR A 2 BYERAKAS
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3. Principal Accounting Policies 3. BT BUR (&)
(Continued)
(n) Borrowing costs (n) BERE
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the B BRIEEFTERFHESEE
acquisition, construction or production of BB RGeS EHEE A EREER
qualifying assets, which are assets that EEBZEERAN  AMAAZEEE
necessarily take a substantial period of time ZEAKA  EEZFEENBAER
to get ready for their intended use or sale, ERESHERILE -

are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary HEEERANSNEGEREE ZKER
investment of specific borrowings pending VB 2 B 1R & FT BRI E & M o ?ﬁﬁ
their expenditure on qualifying assets is BB Z EEKAF R -

deducted from the borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in — P E A B AR AN B E L BMER
profit or loss in the period in which they are R HER ©
incurred.
(0) Employee benefits (o) EEEF
(i)  Short Term Employee Benefits (i) HHESEFREHEHRL LR
and Contributions to Defined Bz M

Contribution Retirement Plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid H& FERLA - BFFER-T
annual leave, contributions to defined B FORARGE 2 AN IEEE
contribution retirement plans and & Az AN Th N e B 42 4 48 B8 AR
the cost of non-monetary benefits B2 FEANFR - MRS EE
are accrued in the year in which the WIRE  MEFETgBENXN -
associated services are rendered Bz iR IR B BR

by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.
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3. Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(o) Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

Share-based Payments

For grants of share options that are
conditional upon satisfying specified
vesting conditions, the fair value of
services received is determined by
reference to the fair value of share
options granted at the grant date
and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share
options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period,
the Group revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected
to ultimately vest. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to share options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately
at the date of grant, the fair value of
the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised
in share options reserve will be
transferred to retained earnings.

TEEHEEE)

BEEF (&)

(i)

RG22 3% H

REERFERBRMFRELZ
BhEmS  AERKZAFE
D2EBEBRERELEBHRZAF
BEE caRaFEBHENAER
EFIER T - Wt (B A
) EAR I 238 00 -

REEHR AEESELREY
BHEKEBEREZRBE NG
e BRREFHZFEWMEIN
BHRER  BERFFAIRRE
BRI Z fEt - W IE AR A 1F
TR -

RREHBEPAREBZER
B ROBEEREZAFETIRN
BEEEXH -

EEREETER  ZAHERR
BhEREZS|BERRME
& - ERBERL MR ER A
BALRITE - TR BERERE
IR Z RS EARBER] -
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3. Principal Accounting Policies 3. FEGHBEE)
(Continued)
(o) Employee benefits (Continued) (o) EETFE)
(iii) Termination Benefits (iii) ARLEFF
Termination benefits are recognized WILEHR T E REE NS EA®
when, and only when, the Group WHEEE FRIFERNKBEBER
demonstrably commits itself to ERAIEERE 2 S IERETEIM
terminate employment or to provide mEREE . EEREENEET
benefits as a result of voluntary VATERR o

redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility
of withdrawal.

(p) Taxation (p) HBiE

Income tax expense represents the sum of FriS it 2 I8 AN B FE 5 A 18 R R AE B 18
the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 248N o

The tax currently payable is based on 2N B A5 R IR T R 6 N FE ER B Ui R AT
taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit H o BRBORAMNELGS 2 EMRRT I
differs from profit as reported in the om A AR - TYEHEMER 2 ERBIK
consolidated statement of comprehensive AU A S IB B Ty B H R BT
income because of items of income or BB ZIEE - AREZAHBIEEE
expense that are taxable or deductible in TDREBEREHRE S EIABSIE 2
other years and items that are never taxable REFE -

or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.
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Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(p)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures,
except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

TESHBRE

(p)

BE(E)

BRERIBENIRGAVBEHRERPZEER
BERARGTEERB A AEERE Y
REEZEER YINEEABRAGBE
B EEHIEEERTESHARER
MEGR =2 MR - MEEHBEETIR
B] A5 35 7] A A B B = EE AN A 2 R AR AR
AR e ER—ER ST - AEE
HAEBEH AR AR EREME
EREEMSIBZEREEEE I YER
REBEHN - PR ESHEH - AR
CHRZEELEERARE -

EXERARBIIME QR R E AT
ZERERR—HERRZEH AR Z T
%ﬁZﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%Eﬁﬁm’ﬁ”ﬁ

NEA R ZR 25 N RE
ZRAETENA R HFEERI -
HZERE MRS A IR £
BREAZRENRREE EHERARE
2R AT A R B B = BRI A 2 2 S B RR A
SEAMEF - I TR AT RS 2R [ SRR o
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Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(p)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset realised, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period. The measurement
of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at
the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised
in profit or loss, except when they relate
to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises
from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

3.

FE

(p)

SETHEE)

BE(E)

BIENIRE E < REER & EHRE R
fEiRaS - WK T E A REA - AR B
FIRIE 2 &Pk B0 (0 B E B AR TR

ELHRBAEEMBBNZBEARERSR
BREFREEMRERZHELERR
BEHREE D EMRERBMG 2R
K(EBOE)HE - EERARBEREE
A ERMASEERN REREEE
BRHRMGER - AREEEER
BERABZEREE -

VSRR AR Ba AR - EEH
RN E MRS EREEER
DR ZEBBRE  EHERT -
BVEARGEE R AT E 2 B R E 2 E K
HEAXEENERER - EEVES
AREEEEBAHELNH RN
B AIRBEEARIMEREE 6 -
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Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(a)

Impairment of tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
tangible and intangible assets with finite
useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any).

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
and intangible assets not yet available
for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an indication
that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value less costs to sell and value in use.

In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or the cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

FE

(a)

SETHEE)

BB B RETEERE

REERESHR  AEERIEALR
BVEEZREE  UBEZEEEHR
BEMBRBETHIRERBRE - fWEM
ZHREFE - MEFEEZARD S
B UREERERR(IE) ZEE -

EIR A B2 BB BE DA MR R H]
HERZBTLEEDEF » ANBRE
ERAEREZBER TETRENR -

A U5 B2 B8 T A AR R SH B AR AR K M8
FEEZRSE

ERMEERBER - Bt ARRAESRE
BRAIARRE AT 58 B R REEE
K% E 2R R ETE (M ARKE R
B2 BB AR ) 2 BATIT R R4
BERE - WREAEE(KBRESELSE
i) 2 e RRERERE(E - B %
BESGRSEAEM) 2REABEBRER
AU E 2 FE o BEEIES BN ERE

=7
o
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Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(a)

()

Impairment of tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (Continued)

When an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

FE

(a)

(r

SETHEE)

BEUNSZER KRB EERE(E)

R EREERRED  EE(RRASESL
B ZEEERSARELER] 2 M
WoeEE BN RAENERAEE
(HREELEEM)BRRNAETFELE
ERERRERIEZREE  BEFHER
Bl & AN R B 2 R ©

MBTH

EAKECERSEITVERTIAZA
WiExXE - MIRRMBEERTBAE
FERARR

MBEERMBABE(RBRRAFER
HeMBEERMBRGERINDFAR
FEFE - MIFHERE - W ETHY
BEERWBABEREL ZR KA
#5458 - 18 DL ) 2 W R B AN A Bk A1 BR B
MBEEINBRBZAFE - REBEHE
BAVFEFEZHBEELRMBARE
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3. Principal Accounting Policies 3. FESHBEE)

(Continued)

(r) Financial instruments (Continued) (n HBIEE)
Financial assets BBEE
Financial assets are classified into the WBEESBEAM NMEEER  [RAYF
following specified categories: financial Bt AIB25%8R (FVTPL) |2 A B E -
assets “at fair value through profit or loss” [(FEZRE4RE [t & (AFS) )
(FVTPL), “held-to-maturity” investments, MBEEERIBERREWRER] - 28T
“available-for-sale” (AFS) financial BB EEZHE R BTEEILTRY
assets and “loans and receivables”. The WRHERRTUETE - TEESEEH
classification depends on the nature and EMBEETIRR 5 A EE®ERREUH
purpose of the financial assets and is R FEBENLHENESENHEN
determined at the time of initial recognition. BEE  WERKNMIE LA HEN
All regular way purchases or sales of BREZRHMEEEARMNEE - A5EEZ
financial assets are recognised and FHEFRERTEER N EUWERK -
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace. The financial assets of the
group include loan and receivables only.
— Effective interest method — BEMFZE
The effective interest method is a method ERMEBRTIFERB T A BHAAR
of calculating the amortised cost of a debt RO EEEBEMNERAZ A - BER
instrument and of allocating interest income FMEDIZEH T EBFFHIGER &
over the relevant period. The effective EAEG A ARRR WA (BIEEEREF
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts EEBHERBHZEI KB WEEE
estimated future cash receipts (including all FRAEE - RIMAREMREITE
fees and points paid or received that form BREIR E VSRR 2 BREDFE -

an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(r)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

— Effective interest method (Continued)

Income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Loans and receivables (including
amount due from associates, trade and
other receivables, and cash and bank
balances) are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any
impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate, except for short-term
receivables when the recognition of interest
would be immaterial.

3.

SETBE(E)

B ITR(E)
HBEEEE)
— B ()

15%15{2”&A75*§ B T\*‘JT% ﬁgu/u °©

B REWHHE

B % FE YR I8 A FE 70 )E BB T 45 TR (B
mMEBEERAIEERIBZINTETA
VBEE - ERRERFE(BERER
Bt A RIFIE - B SRR R H M E KK
1H - AR S RIRITER) TIABBRF=E
EB R AR DR BT E o

B PR RN S N EEK 2 K2 HA FE MR
S FBUMA FE R BB R IR -

88



Annual Report 2012 =T — = £ £

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B E|RME

For the year ended 31 December 2012

xfzf:if/fgff‘/iv‘iw,p/f”i

BE—F——F1T_H 7 1 1CF)R
3. Principal Accounting Policies 3. FESHBEE)
(Continued)
(r) Financial instruments (Continued) (n HBIEE)
Financial assets (Continued) BIBEEE)
Impairment of financial assets BB EERE
Financial assets are assessed for indicators M58 ER S WS ARTEE TRED
of impairment at the end of each reporting R WAEREBEBRERNPERATIEE
period. Financial assets are considered to be ERBEZ —BXZHEGHSMBEE
impaired when there is objective evidence ZHEFARRERESIFE  BBGH
that, as a result of one or more events that BESHEEAE TRHE BHEEEAE
occurred after the initial recognition of the AT RIE :

financial asset, the estimated future cash
flows of the investment have been affected.
For financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

. significant financial difficulty of the . BOAXBFRIEEAUBR
issuer or counterparty; or 2o

. breach of contract, such as a default . ER - MAREZNMEHAE T
or delinquency in interest or principal 5K

payments; or

. it becoming probable that the borrower . BRABAIEKESETVBE
will enter bankruptcy or financial re- 4 Bk
organisation; or

. the disappearance of an active market . R BEREmMSZMBEERE
for that financial asset because of TEERTIS
financial difficulties.
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3. Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(r)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial assets,
such as trade receivables, assets that are
assessed not to be impaired individually
are, in addition, assessed for impairment
on a collective basis. Objective evidence
of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group’s past experience
of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the average credit period of 60 days,
as well as observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the amount of the impairment loss
recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the
amount of the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at
the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment loss will not
be reversed in subsequent periods (see the
accounting policy below).

FTESHBEE)

MBTAE)

HBEE (&)

BB EERE (&)

HRETHER 2% E EG0EKER
) - EMERFHE RS R ERETTR
RRER L - BATRAESREZZERE
BEE  AEBBERRLE  BURER
FHEATEENRRE(FHEESRR
60K ) 3 i b 7] B 5% 2 B R MK RR SRR K
BRZBERSMT7 KB RHBREE

PIRB AR MBEEMS @ 2
ERREBRSBEIEEREERZR
BEERERMER Z At RKRE
MEBREZER -

IR AT Z M BEEMS @ WIEE
BeR Y REERAERREUMBEE
EBRMSEREYRIR Z A RKRE
MEBREME ZZHAE - ZZ5REE
B reaRERHRER (R T z&st
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3. Principal Accounting Policies 3. FESHBEE)
(Continued)
(r) Financial instruments (Continued) (n HBIEE)
Financial assets (Continued) BIBEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) BB EERE(E)
The carrying amount of the financial asset HETEMBEEMS MBEEECKER
is reduced by the impairment loss directly BENLAORBEEBEBEZNR - HEBKERR
for all financial assets with the exception Froh - HEREE DB BEHGEEE
of trade receivables, where the carrying e BREBBERZERATARE - E
amount is reduced through the use of an B EE IS o BB MEE 2 3B
allowance account. When a trade receivable Hgm - Bt AR - BERZE
is considered uncollectible, it is written off MEZE N IEEER

against the allowance account. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off
are credited against the allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or

loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised HRIBZBEN AT ECHBEEMS - 40
cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount EREEX—HREBE 2B/
of the impairment loss decreases and the A R 0 8 i B R E S 18 14
decrease can be related objectively to an BEZEMERE  AZAIERERZE
event occurring after the impairment was BHEEHERBERER  HZERER
recognised, the previously recognised B R Bz B 2 BREE T T i 37 %
impairment loss is reversed through profit or RIRERER 2 B o

loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the investment at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

91



Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited & HAMBEIFREEHER AT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B |RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2012

BE_F——Ff - H=1—HIFE
3. Principal Accounting Policies 3. S BE(E)
(Continued)
(r) Financial instruments (Continued) (n HBIEE)
Financial liabilities and equity HBEERKRATA
instruments
Debt and equity instruments issued by a SEEBET2BEHERRATARES
group entity are classified as either financial Nz ABAB R BEGERERAT
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the B EENBERUMBAGBIAR -

substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments BRAETR

An equity instrument is any contract that AT EANDFEFRERBEELTGREMSE
evidences a residual interest in the assets of BEERFIGER ZEMNEGL - NEBH
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. TZBRATEZREWFAERIBENREE
Equity instruments issued by the Group are BATRRAATER o

recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity AArER RS ES TARESERK
instruments is recognised and deducted BHEMM - AARED - HE - BT
directly in equity. No gain or loss is HEARERTATERBRPHRA
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, AR -

sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s
own equity instruments.

Other financial liabilities &N HE

Other financial liabilities (including other E{”@ﬁ’%ﬁ%ﬁgf@f&ﬁ%ﬁﬁ?5’-‘7F‘J$5£J>A§E
payables, amounts due to a director HEKARETE - ERUMBR T E IR ZE)
and a shareholder, bank borrowings and T AR FIBR BIBR AN o

promissory note) are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, unless the effect of discounting
would not be material, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(r)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
liability and of allocating interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form
an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an
effective interest basis.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Company
are classified separately as financial
liabilities and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument. Conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for
a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is an equity instrument.
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Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(r)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Convertible notes (Continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the
liability component is estimated using the
prevailing market interest rate for similar
non-convertible instruments. This amount is
recorded as a liability on an amortised cost
basis using the effective interest method
until extinguished upon conversion or at the
instrument’s maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity
is determined by deducting the amount
of the liability component from the fair
value of the compound instrument as a
whole. This is recognised and included in
equity, net of income tax effects, and is not
subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will
remain in equity until the conversion option
is exercised, in which case, the balance
recognised in equity will be transferred to
share premium. Where the conversion option
remains unexercised at the maturity date of
the convertible note, the balance recognised
in equity will be transferred to retained
profits. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss upon conversion or expiration of the

conversion option.

3.

(r)

BHBE(2)

MBTAGE)
AR 1% ()

REBEITEY BEBDZAFETRE
PR AI 88 T A ZRITHIHH M5
2R IRE R AEEAER

R %
REARM HNAMBEERTAT
HA AL -

WolaRER 2 EIREET SRS
BEIAZAFEETIRAGHHS
BEMEBET - HERMBRATEREEETE
BaPERARAK W BEEETAIEHNGT
2o N W tE AR 2 BB
—HRBRERAN  BEEEHRERET
EhLE - MEWBRT  EREETER
REBBERERME o WEREE
Rl =R BB R AR ETE - 4

STERAZEHBEERERERN - £
HIRMRERERY NN TEERE

MR R A -

94



Annual Report 2012 =& — — & F §

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B E|RME

For the year ended 31 December 2012

£

3.

==

-+ ] =+—H |FFE/E

T/

Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(r)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Convertible notes (Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of
the convertible notes are allocated to the
liability and equity components in proportion
to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are recognised directly in equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying
amount of the liability component and are
amortised over the lives of the convertible
notes using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset
only when the contractual rights to the
cash flows from the asset expire, or when it
transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset,
the Group continues to recognise the asset
to the extent of its continuing involvement
and recognises an associated liability. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred
financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.
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3. Principal Accounting Policies 3. BT BUR (&)

(Continued)

(r) Financial instruments (Continued) (n HBIEE)
Derecognition (Continued) BUBRER (&)
On derecognition of a financial asset in 2EEBUHERM G EER - EEKREIE
its entirety, the difference between the HBE W R ERREBARENA RN EMEE
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the W R w Rt iR 2 Rt
consideration received and receivable and ZHINERER -

the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity is recognised in
profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other % 2 BUR RN -

than in its entirety, the Group allocates the ER BEKEE ﬁﬂ%é?Zi@E%‘?E
previous carrying amount of the financial (=R *E?J%EEEW

asset between the part it continues to BRER

recognise, and the part it no longer EMERELDR - THERID
recognises on the basis of the relative RziEEmESRE A EM2Els EﬁEMZ
fair values of those parts on the date of TEERBL, 2ERRERES

the transfer. The difference between the A 25Tk ETIE 2 2 F1 2 ZXE TN 18
carrying amount allocated to the part that mAER - ERHEMEE KR ﬁpr\Zi
is no longer recognised and the sum of the EJrLISZ/\E}ZJEﬁT,E g

consideration received for the part no longer BRER I D 2 1B

recognised and any cumulative gain or loss paN v

allocated to it that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income is recognised in
profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is allocated between the part that
continues to be recognised and the part that
is no longer recognised on the basis of the
relative fair values of those parts.
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3. Principal Accounting Policies 3. FESHBEE)
(Continued)
(r) Financial instruments (Continued) (n HBIEE)
Derecognition (Continued) BUBRER (&)
The Group derecognises financial liabilities AEBEWERLAERZ EEHER - =
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations iﬁ_ﬂ:ﬁlﬂ—i}ﬁy SHIER S A G - DEUH
are discharged, cancelled or they expire. 2 H?IZ&E{EZEEETEE@EH&FEHK
The difference between the carrying amount BEZEERERER -
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
(s) Financial guarantees issued, provisions (s) FIBRHZHBER BRERIAREHE
and contingent liabilities
(i)  Financial guarantees issued (i) Fr&HZHBER
Financial guarantees are contracts that MEERTIEREZE ABRER
require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to N BRERZZATHEAD
make specified payments to reimburse HAEEEBALRERBEEETA
the beneficiary of the guarantee (the 2R MEAFREMERZER
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs B mMEBAEBRNEEREZE
because a specified debtor fails to 4 °

make payment when due in accordance
with the terms of a debt instrument.
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Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(s)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities (Continued)

(0

Financial guarantees issued
(Continued)

Where the group issues a financial
guarantee, the fair value of the
guarantee (being the transaction price,
unless the fair value can otherwise
be reliably estimated) is initially
recognised as deferred income within
trade and other payables. Where
consideration is received or receivable
for the issuance of the guarantee,
the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset.
Where no such consideration is
received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss
on initial recognition of any deferred
income.

The amount of the guarantee initially
recognised as deferred income is
amortised in profit or loss over the
term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantees issued. In
addition, provisions are recognised
in accordance with note (s)(iii) below
if and when (i) it becomes probable
that the holder of the guarantee
will call upon the group under the
guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that
claim on the group is expected to
exceed the amount currently carried
in trade and other payables in respect
of that guarantee i.e. the amount
initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation.
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stz MEBERR BRERIREE

(%)

()

P 2 B BHER(4E)

EAKEEHMBGERE - %E
Rz AFEEIZZER  HEQF
B RE AT SE b 1A 5 RBR 51 ) 4] 2 HE R
RENERREMENKERLZ
EEWA - ERLBEITHEBERD
W EBRER  KEDRER
SEERARNZEERR 2 BURHE
R WL EABKERD WHE
Yo BIH A 2 RE AR AT (AT AR FE MR A
BRBEERNEFX -

MEERABBELTERAZERES
RERBAAEESEE  FA%
o B A PR AR Z LA o E A - i (i)
EREFEBAAEAUERERERTZ
RNEE: R(i)ANEEZERKE
TEHAB AR TR Z R 2 S
AR 3R N CEL i JE A SR IE (B H) 25 FE R
ZER O MBETEE) - BIEER
B EE () (i) FERR o

98



Annual Report 2012 =& — = & £

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B E|RME

For the year ended 31

g2

3.

— ==

December 2012

Fl — H=-_ 0 FF&F
1 / / = 1

I —/7 / I LT/

Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(s)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities (Continued)

(i)

Contingent liabilities assumed in
business combinations

Contingent liabilities assumed in
a business combination which are
present obligations at the date of
acquisition are initially recognised
at fair value, provided the fair value
can be reliably measured. After their
initial recognition at fair value, such
contingent liabilities are recognised
at the higher of the amount initially
recognised, less accumulated
amortisation where appropriate, and
the amount that would be determined
in accordance with note (s)(iii) below.
Contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination that cannot be
reliably fair valued or were not present
obligations at the date of acquisition
are disclosed in accordance with note
(s)(iii) below.

3.

EE

(s)

SIBEE)

Mtz MBERR  BERIREE
(%)

(i) EBEEREZEAEE

fWAFEEAENZ  AEKE
HAREZIABEETER)
REBAHREAFENSER -
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(LR A )) RAR TR T XTI EE (s) (i)
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Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(s)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions

and contingent liabilities (Continued)

(iii) Other provisions and contingent
liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other
liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the group or the company has
a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can
be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure

expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required,
or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed
as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of

economic benefits is remote.
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3. Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(t) Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the group
if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over
the group;

(i)  has significant influence over the
group; or

(i) is a member of the key
management personnel of the
group or the group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the group if any
of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the group are
members of the same group
(which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary
is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is
an associate of the third entity.
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Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

®)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the group if any
of the following conditions applies:
(Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the group or
an entity related to the group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified
in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the
entity).

Close members of the family of a
person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity.
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3. Principal Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(u)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of
each segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the group’s
various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments
are not aggregated for financial reporting
purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar
in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods
used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimation

In the application of the Group’s accounting
policies, which are described in note 3,
management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concering
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period
that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of assets and assessment of cash
generating units (“CGU”)

The Group reviews the carrying value of its
interests in associates and interests in jointly
controlled entities to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets are impaired.
In making assessments for impairment, assets
that do not generate independent cash flows are
allocated to an appropriate CGU. The recoverable
amount of those assets, or CGU, is measured at
the higher of their fair value less costs to sell and
value in use.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimation (Continued)

Impairment of assets and assessment of cash
generating units (“CGU”) (Continued)

Management necessarily applies its judgement
in allocating assets to CGUs, in estimating the
probability, timing and value of underlying cash
flows and in selecting appropriate discount rates
to be applied within the value in use calculation.
Subsequent changes to CGU allocation or
estimates and assumptions in the value in use
calculation could impact the carrying value of the
respective assets.

Changes to the assumptions underlying the
assessment of the recoverable value may
result in changes to impairment charges, either
through further impairment charges or reversal
of previously recognised impairments, which
could have a significant impact on the financial
information in future periods. In addition, any
delays, increases in the total forecast cost
of planned projects or negative outcomes to
exploration and evaluation activities could lead to
further impairment charges in the future.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimation (Continued)

Exploration and evaluation costs

The Group’s accounting policy for exploration
and evaluation expenditure results in such
expenditure being capitalised for those projects
for which such expenditure is considered likely to
be recoverable through future extraction activity
or sale, or for which the exploration activities have
not reached a stage which permits a reasonable
assessment of the existence of reserves. This
policy requires management to make certain
estimates and assumptions as to future events
and circumstances, in particular whether the
Group will proceed with development based on
existence of reserves or whether an economically
viable extraction operation can be established.
Such estimates and assumptions may change
from period to period as new information becomes
available. If, subsequent to the exploration and
evaluation expenditure capitalised, a judgement is
made that recovery of the expenditure is unlikely
or the project is to be abandoned, the relevant
capitalised amount will be written off to profit or
loss.

Valuation of financial instruments

The Group uses valuation techniques that include
inputs that are not based on observable market
data to estimate the fair value of certain types of
financial instruments. Notes 27 and 28 provide
detailed information about the key assumptions
used in the determination of the fair value of
financial instruments, as well as the detailed
sensitivity analysis for these assumptions.

The directors believe that the chosen valuation
techniques and assumptions used are appropriate
in determining the fair value of financial
instruments.
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5. Turnover and Other Revenue 5. =L HEMKE

(@) An analysis of the Group’s turnover for the (a) AEBZARFEEEBEHITOT :
year is as follows:

HK$’000 HK$’000
BYFTT Vit
Provision of technical services R M AR 462 609
(b) An analysis of the Group’s other revenue for (b) AEEZXREFFHMBRSTET

the year is as follows:

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Bank interest income RITHFEUA 1 2
Sundry income FIEA — 50
1 52

6. Finance Costs 6. BERAX

HK$’000 HK$’000
BYFT BT T

Interest on bank borrowing not wholly BITER(BERAFEAZ
repayable within five years EEE) AR 384 51
Effective interest on promissory note AR BEREFE 884 167
Effective interest on convertible bonds AR ES 2 BERFE 13,192 28,256
14,460 28,474
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7. (Loss)/Profit Before Tax 7. BRBAI(ER) CER
(Loss)/Profit before tax is arrived at after charging: BRELAT(EHR), R AR MRIATIER

HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T B TFor
Staff costs (including directors’ BIRA(BEEEME)
remuneration)
— Salaries and other benefits — FHre REMER 9,782 14,117
— Retirement scheme contributions — RIRFH B 316 229
10,098 14,346
Auditors’ remuneration ZE A&
Audit services EZIRT 438 420
Non-audit services FEEZRTE — 205
438 625
Depreciation of property, plant and M WEREREHITE
equipment 377 384
Impairment loss on other receivables Hofth pE WORORME B 1R 601 —
Operating lease payments for land and T i RIETF 2 L HAFRIE
buildings 2,676 2,294
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F_E——F T _A=1—HIFE

8. Income Tax

Income tax recognised in profit or loss

HK$’000 HK$’000
BYFTT BT T

Current tax: REARIA
— Hong Kong — BE = =
— PRC enterprise income tax — BB ERSH = =
— Other jurisdictions — Hib Rl AR — =
Deferred tax EIEFIA 2,159 1,109
Income tax credit for the year REEFRBHRER 2,159 1,109

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at the rate of
16.5% (2011:16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profit for the year.

PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC enterprise
income tax at the rate of 25% (2011: 25%).
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated
at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Deferred tax for the year represents tax income
recognised on reversal of temporary differences
arising from convertible bonds.

No deferred tax asset has been recognized
on losses for the year of approximately
HK$10,313,000 (2011: HK$10,076,000) due to
unpredictability stream of future taxable profits that
will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilized.

There was no material unprovided deferred tax
charge for the year (2011: Nil).

EBFNERDNEANFEE A ERT G R IE
16.5% (—F——1F : 16.5%) ZFHR:+HE -

FEMEBARER2S% (Z T ——F : 25%)
RESNPRCEMBEH - REMREERE
S RIBREERAER 2 BITHEE o

REE ZEEFIB RSB E AR RESPTE S
Hi BRI HBERA -

MR F ARG EIBEE 2 RRERB S
Mz RRBEATER MY ERAFEEEE
)75 M10,313,000 (=T ——F : HBHK
10,076,000 7T ) ERIEEFLIHE E ©

AEEWEBARFRBEHRER A B (=
T——F )
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P _E—F A H=1—HIFE

PGBt (&)

8. Income Tax (Continued) 8.

Income tax recognised in profit or loss REZRBERZZMEH(E)

(Continued)

AFEEHAARGA KRR BAT(ER), i
MEERIAT

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the
(loss)/profit before tax per the consolidated income

statement as follows:

HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT B TFT
(Loss)/profit before tax: BREAT(EIR),RF (70,569) 297,868
Notional tax (charge)/credit on (loss)/ BEBEREERRNERB
profit before tax, calculated at the R E 2B (EER),
tax rates applicable to profits in the w2z BERBIE(RAY),
jurisdictions concerned Eii%) 11,546 (42,713)
Tax effect of share of results of PRGBS & R RIZEE 2 T
associates B (4) —
Tax effect of reversal of impairment loss B2 A m#E 2 REEE
on interests in associates BOl 2 R E = 1,224
Tax effect of reversal of impairment loss AR HI F 2 55 2 FE
on interests in jointly controlled entities BB 2 ISR 2 = 25,173
Tax effect on impairment loss on NN ey W I=) ki
associates ZRIEHE (3,455) =
Tax effect on impairment loss on jointly 7[RI 6 E 52 k28 2 RUE
controlled entities BRZBETE (2,175) —
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TR HBAZ 2 R E 14 (272)
Tax effect of non-taxable income ERRTMA RIS 2 — 23,148
Tax effect of losses not allowable FAIMB BB 2 BB E (5,690) (239)
Tax effect of allowable losses not RER AT EE 2 B
recognised FE (236) (6,321)
Deferred tax on convertible bonds B RRES 2 IRERIE 2,159 1,109
Income tax credit for the year REFEREHER 2,159 1,109
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R —fFf =1 HIFE

9. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments 9. EEKkESHM
(i) Directors’ Emoluments (i) ESFm
The emoluments paid or payable to each of BN EINTNEG(ZE—F : &
the 8 (2011: 7) directors were as follows: B)EFZHMAT -

Salaries Retirement
and other scheme

benefits  contributions
HER
HigA  BIREHEIER

HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
ERTFT ERTFT BETT BETT

Executive directors: HTE
KUAI Wei £z - 360 14 374
CAO Xuejun (note a) EEE — 168 — 168
ZHANG Xiaobao (note b) REE — 125 — 125
LIN Zhang wE — 790 14 804
LAI Chun Liang (note c) RER — 240 - 240
Independent non-executive BUFRTES
directors:
WANG Yanhui FHE — - - -
PAI Hsi-Ping AfBR - - - =
WONG Kon Man, Jason IHX 48 - - 48
48 1,683 28 1,759
Notes: Mt -
(a) Mr. Cao Xuejun resigned as an executive a) EBEBEELEALEER-_ZT——-FtA
director of the Company on 25 July 2012. Z+RAAREARBITES -
(b)  Mr. Zhang Xiaobao resigned as an executive by RKREBLLEERZ-ZZT—Z-FARA
director of the Company on 25 May 2012. “t+HRABRIARITES -
(¢) Mr. Lai Chun Liang was appointed as an c) RKEBREEER=-_Z——_FHA
executive director of the Company on 25 “+HBEZTAERRRITES -
May 2012.
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9. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments 9. EEREEHM(ZE)
(Continued)
(i) Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) (iy EZFME)

Salaries Retirement

and other scheme

benefits contributions

ek

HEh  RAREEMER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BEFT BT JBETFT BEFT

Executive directors: WTE
KUAI Wei &z = 360 8 368
CAO Xuejun EEE — 291 — 291
ZHANG Xiaobao REEE — 497 — 497
LIN Zhang wE — 494 12 506
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors:

WANG Yanhui THE — — — —
PAI Hsi-Ping AfBR — — — —
WONG Kon Man, Jason T#X 48 — — 48

48 1,642 20 1.710
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9. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments 9. EEREEFMEZ)
(Continued)
(ii) Of the 5 individuals with the highest (i) AEEREZEFMALH  —R(ZF
emoluments in the Group, one (2011: 0) was ——F :TR)RARAESE - mHA
a director of the Company. The emoluments (ZZ——F: AR)FEFATZFHM
of the 4 (2011: 5) non-director individuals LU

were as follows:

HK$°000 HK$°’000
BT T BT T
Salaries and other benefits e REAMER 6,174 6,004
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIHERR M 18
6,215 6,022
The emoluments of those 4 (2011: 5) ZHE(ZE—F: AR)FNESIE
non-director individuals with the highest B2 AL ZHMN T THIEE -

emoluments are within the following bands:

Number of individuals

A
2012 2011
—F—=F —T——F
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 0 TTE 1 1,000,000 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 F# 51,000,001 TE
711,500,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 711,500,001 TTE
1 2,000,000 7T — 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 ¥ 2,000,001 TTE
¥ 2,500,000 7T — —
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 J 2 500,001 TTE
71 3,000,000 7T — —
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 71 3,000,001 TTE
7515 3,500,000 7T 1 —
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10. (Loss)/Profit Attributable to Owners of 10. RATEE AL (EIE)EF
the Company

The consolidated loss (2011: profit) attributable HEZT——F+-A=1+—HLEFE &2
to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 AEBAELGEER(ZE—F  mf)e
December 2012 includes a loss of HK$23,048,000 {EE5 1881 23,048,000 L (= ——4F : B
(2011: HK$36,998,000) which has been dealt with 36,998,000 T) * ZEBHHEENARE Z R
in the financial statements of the Company. KA °

Reconciliation of the above amount to the N ESRBEEAFEARGEHROT

Company’s loss for the year is as follows:

HK$’000 HK$’000
BYF T BEFT
Amount of loss included in RABEBERARRMBREA
consolidated (loss)/profit BRI 2 B ARG
attributable to owners of the tme (E1E),w T
Company dealt with in the =
Company’s financial statements 23,048 36,998
Impairment losses on amounts FEURFI B A RZRIBZ
due from subsidiaries REE R = =
Company’s loss for the year KRB 2 AFEFHE
(Note 33) (K17#33) 23,048 36,998

114



Annual Report 2012 =T — = £ £

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B E|RME

For the year ended 31 December 2012
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11. (Loss)/Earnings Per Share 1. BR(BE) &R
(a) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (a) BREXER) EF
The calculations of the basic (loss)/earnings BREX(ER) /BRTIRE THIEHE

]
=5
E-I— >

per share are based on the following data:

HK$°000 HK$'000
BT JEMF T

(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable 782 F1#EA A 15N EE
to the owners of the Company (E518) &F (61,342) 302,282

’000 ‘000
FiE Fhig
Weighted average number of MEFEEBEREE
ordinary shares
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January »— 83— HE&TE B 1,822,506 2,433,600
Effect of rights issue gz & = 281,127
Effect of share consolidation B E btz & — (1,953,750)
Effect of shares issued pursuant to  RIEEE 7 ZEZRITIMD
employment agreement a7 1,675 228
Effect of ordinary shares issued BEITERR ZE = 186,986
Effect of shares issued upon REEIR AT ARG IR 1E B 1T
conversion of convertible notes frip 2 & — 118,356
Weighted average number of R+ZA=+—HZm#E¥
ordinary shares at 31 December R E R 1,824,181 1,066,547
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11. (Loss)/Earnings Per Share (Continued) 11. BR(BE) BRE)
(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (b) SRBE(EE) BA

BEE(BR), /B RIATBE

a

The calculations of the diluted (loss)/earnings

it

per share are based on the following data:

HK$’000 HK$’000
BYFT BT T
(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable ZNA A AJE(LARFE
to owners of the Company (E18) &= F (61,342) 302,282
After tax effect of effective interest AR EHFBETHD
on the liability component of BEERF R ZBRBiE
convertible bonds A 11,033 27,147
(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable ZNA R A AL ARFE
to owners of the Company (diluted)  (E518) & | (& #i5%) (50,309) 329,429
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11. (Loss)/Earnings Per Share (Continued) 1. BR(ER) BRE)
(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (b) EBRBH(ER) BRGE)
(Continued)
Weighted average number of ordinary EERME TR E (EHE)

shares (diluted)

’000 ‘000
FB FAE
Number of shares RO E
Weighted average number of R+ZA=+—RE@RM
ordinary shares at 31 December A 1,824,181 1,066,547
Effect of the dilutive potential BEEELRR o TE
ordinary shares 173,474 204,266
Weighted average number of RARFTESREEEE 2T
ordinary shares used AR INETF9E B
in the calculation of diluted loss
per share 1,997,655 1,270,813
The diluted loss per share for the years AR ARATRES RITERREEE
ended 31 December 2012 is equivalent to EZEEBRNBRIARERAFEZ
the basic loss per share as the potential BREEMHERREE  HHE—F

——HET A=t HLEFRZEkR#E

shares arising from the conversion of the } i
BEEERSRERNER -

convertible bonds would decrease the loss
per share of the Group for the year, and is
regarded as anti-dilutive.
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12. Dividends 12. RE
No dividend has been paid or proposed for the AEEWERNTIEZRGRB(ZE——
year (2011: Nil). Fom) e

13. Segment Information 13. 7HEHR
The Group determines its operating segments AEEREFELERRAFTERN AL R
based on the reports reviewed by the chief MRE 2 REBEHLEDEL -

operating decision-makers that are used to make
strategic decisions.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group HE_Z——-F+-_A=1+—HILFE  r&
has 3 reportable segments — (1) exploration BE=ZEHREHI — (NHEAM - RART
of oil, natural gas and coal, (2) trading of MEx - QEBERABEBERRG) HARE
petroleum-related products and (3) provision of R RFEREREMRE - BRZE D HBRT
technical services for oil and gas exploration FAITERFTETAREZGREKRE - WoRE
and development. These segments are managed 38 o

separately as they belong to different industries
and require different operating systems and
strategies.

v

There were no sales or other transactions between
those reportable segments.

ZERED B HLEHELEMIS o

b=1l

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment AEERED W - X248 EE - aFERE
revenues, results, assets, liabilities and other MEBIEER Z DT 2T -

selected financial information is presented below.
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13. Segment Information (Continued) 13. DEER(E)
(a) Reportable Segments (a) HEDI
Exploration Trading of

of oil, petroleum  Provision of

natural gas related technical

and coal products services

BRERR® EERH Rt

RARRER HBER R RS
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AETR AETT BETT BETT

Turnover: BEE:

Revenues from external customers RENDEP 2 Wiz - - 462 462
Interest income FIEHA 1 - - 1
Total income LNt 1 - 462 463
Reportable segment loss before tax FEA B BTAEE (16,912) (668) (1,368) (18,948)
Unallocated corporate expenses RARLERS (3,025)
Impairment loss on interests NNl -

in associates REEE (20,940) (20,940)
Impairment loss on interests in jointly ~ RAREHERRES ZHESE

controlled entities (13,183) (13,183)
Share of results of associates EEBENREE (13) (13)
Interest expenses MER% (14,460)
Loss before tax BEAER (70,569)
Income tax FiEH 2,159
Loss for the year REEER (68,410)
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13. Segment Information (Continued) 13. DEERE)
(a) Reportable Segments (Continued) (a) HEDI(E)
Exploration Trading of
of oil, petroleum  Provision of
natural gas related technical
and coal products services
BRAR EERH
RARRER HEER HRAt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BEFT BEFT BEFT
Tumover: LR
Revenues from external customers  RESMIEF 20 - - 609 609
Interest income MEBA — 1 1 2
Other revenue E iz 50 — — 50
Total income DON 50 1 610 661
Reportable segment loss before tax & HH 7 B Al (18,405) (110) (1,063) (19,578)
Unallocated corporate expenses RAREERS (11,565)
Negative goodwill arising from KERBAREE
acquisition of subsidiaries ameg 140,289 140,289
Impairment loss on interests in N AUNG L 5
associates written back HEFEED 7422 7,422
Impairment loss on interests in jointly R FIRHI EEES 2
controlled entities written back HEEBER 215,077 215,077
Impairment loss on interests in jointly R EFEZHEBER
controlled entities HEFR (5,301) (5,301)
Share of results of associates EEHENREE @) @)
Interest expenses MERR (28,474)
Profit before tax BB AR A 297,868
Income tax s 1,109
Profit for the year REERT] 298,977
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13. Segment Information (Continued) 13. DEER(E)
(a) Reportable Segments (Continued) (a) HEDI(E)
The accounting policies of the operating KED BB RSB
segments are the same as the Group’s BB DHEBRRSHOBAELEZ
accounting policies. Segment loss represents BERIRDEHRITBERAN(BIEES
loss incurred by each segment without ) - BEBCRKPTEN o lLERE
allocation of central administration costs HAEOHEN  EMHEFTELEREA
including directors’ emoluments, finance ERBLE R R BRI ZA -

costs and income tax. This is the measure
reported to the chief operating decision
maker for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance.

Exploration Trading of
of oil, petroleum  Provision of
natural gas related technical

and coal products services
BRER EEAH
AARRAER HEER RUERERS
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BETT BRFT BRFr Vi o

Assets: BE:
Segment assets DHEE 40,092 130 344 40,566
Interests in associates JiN AN 3 60,945 60,945
Interests in jointly controlled entities ~ AEAREHIBEE 1,389,541 1,389,541
Unallocated corporate assets RORASEE 588
Total assets BEE 1,491,640
Liabilities: IR
Segment liabilities NHaE 33,690 150 518 34,358
Unallocated corporate liabilities FOECEERE 166,439

Total liabilities maE 200,797
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13. Segment Information (Continued) 13. DEERE)
(a) Reportable Segments (Continued) (a) W|EDHE)

Exploration Trading of
of i, petroleum  Provision of
natural gas related technical

and coal products services
BfRah EERH
RABRER HRER RERERS

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EETT EETT E¥TT  EETT

Assets: BE:
Segment assets PHEE 41,365 483 1,783 43,631
Interests in associates REE ARl R 81,898 81,898
Interests in jointly controlled entities ~ AERTHIEEE 1,393,203 1,393,203
Unallocated corporate assets AOMEEEE 14,066
Total assets BEE 1,532,798
Liabilities: BE:
Segment liabilities PHER 121,247 154 2,880 124,281
Unallocated corporate liabilities FAECEERE 36,035
Total liabilities BafE 160,316

For the purposes of monitoring segment
performance and allocating resources
between segments:

— all assets are allocated to operating
segments other than unallocated
corporate assets.

— all liabilities are allocated to operating
segments other than unallocated
corporate liabilities.

REZHBERARS BZHODRAE
e :

— BROIECREEN MBEE
WAOBEEAEREE D -

— KBoEGXAEIN MAERAB®
DEEHBBEEDE -
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13. Segment Information (Continued) 13. oBER(E)
(a) Reportable Segments (Continued) (a) HEDI(E)
Other segment information Eft 5 2854
Exploration Trading of
of oil, petroleum Provision of
natural gas related technical
and coal products services Unallocated
BEAH EEAH
AARRER BRER  RARGRS LS
HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Vi o BRFT Vi o BRFT ERFT
Depreciation il 280 - 46 51 377
Capital expenditure ERRY 5 - 87 25 117

Exploration Trading of

of ail, petroleum Provision of
natural gas related technical
and coal products services Unallocated
BRAH - EERM

AR RHER  RERERE AOR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BEFT BETFT BB BEFT
Depreciation ik 307 — 34 43 384
Capital expenditure BARY 79 — 93 74 246
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13. Segment Information (Continued) 13. DEERE)
(b) Geographical Segments (b) HEEHHR
The following table sets out information TRBHNEB () AEERBINBEFZ
about the geographical location of (i) the Wz R (i) NEEWE - BB R - &
Group’s revenues from external customers WEE B2 ARREEQFRER
and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and THIEREER((FEERBEE]) 2
equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and BABER BFP2HMEMNEZRER
interests in associates and jointly controlled HBERHEEY 2 HBTRTE - BT
entities (“specified non-current assets”). FRBEECHEMEZRE(NEY
The geographical location of customers is ¥ BEKEKB EEEEMEMLE -
based on the location at which the services (WBEREENEE)ENI 2 EEH
were provided or the goods delivered. The 2h AR(IABREEE A7) R R ZE
geographical location of the specified non- =i
current assets is based on the physical
location of the assets, in the case of
property, plant and equipment, the location of
the operation to which they are allocated, in
the case of intangible and goodwill, and the
location of operation, in the case of interests
in associates and jointly controlled entities.
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
REMBEF 2Bz BEERBEE
2012 2012
—E-—F —E--F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BETT ETT BEFm  BEFr
Mainland China, including HEAH - BIEEE KRN
Hong Kong and Macau 462 609 2,054 838
Brunei PE:S — — 1,085,619 1,083,399
Philippines FEE - — 385,806 411,528
462 609 1,473,479 1,495,765
(c) Information about major customers (c) EBEEEFzEH

Included in revenues from external
customers of HK$462,000 (2011:
HK$609,000) are revenues of HK$462,000
(2011: HK$525,000) which arose from
provision of technical services to the Group’s
largest customer.

RE IR Z Wz B ¥ 462,000 7T (=
T ——4F : B% 609,000 T ) IR HE R
MRESHFETALAEERARSETT
SHE MEEE 2 WA 462,000 (==
—— : #B#525,0007T) °
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment 14. Y% - BRERRE
The Group REE
Plant and
equipment
BMERZE
HK$’000
BT
Cost or valuation: RS R1E -
At 1 January 2011 R-—ZE—F—H—H 1,875
Additions V= 246
Exchange adjustment M 5, 2 12
At 31 December 2011 and R_ZT—F+-_A=+—8K
1 January 2012 —T——%—H—H 2,133
Additions NE 117
Exchange adjustment b & A% (4)
At 31 December 2012 R-T—=—F+=-A=+—H 2,246
Depreciation and impairment: e RIRE
At 1 January 2011 R-ZZE——F—H—H 910
Provided for the year REE R 384
Exchange adjustment M 5 A 2 1
At 31 December 2011 R-ZE——F+-_A=+—HE
and 1 January 2012 —T——%—H—H 1,295
Provided for the year NEFZ A 377
Exchange adjustment b A% (4)
At 31 December 2012 N-E——F+=-A=+—8H 1,668
Carrying amounts: BREME -
At 31 December 2012 RZTE——F+-A=+—8 578
At 31 December 2011 R-T——F+_H=+—H 838

125



Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited & HAMBEIREEARA T

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B |RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2012
BT F =1 —HIFE

14. Property, Plant and Equipment

14. 9% BERRKRE(E)

(Continued)
The Company AT
Plant and
equipment
BMERZE
HK$’000
BT T
Cost or valuation: RS A 1A
At 1 January 2011 R=ZE—F—H—H 227
Additions NE 26
At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 R-ZE——F+-_A=+—HEF
—T——-F—H—H 253
Additions NE 5
At 31 December 2012 RZE——F+-A=+—H 258
Depreciation and impairment: TERRE
At 1 January 2011 R-—ZE—F—H—H 152
Provided for the year RNEERE 41
At 31 December 2011 and RZB——F+_A=+—8BK
1 January 2012 —E——-F—H—H 193
Provided for the year REE R 44
At 31 December 2012 RZE—Z—F+=-A=+—H 237
Carrying amounts: BRTEE :
At 31 December 2012 R-_T——F+-_A=+—H 21
At 31 December 2011 R-—T——F+_-_A=+—H 60
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15. Investments in Subsidiaries 15. RFBRARZRE

The Company

PN
2012 2011
—B-—=fF —E——%F

HK$°000 HK$’000

B FTT BT T
Unlisted shares, at cost JE LR » LA 24,895 24,895
Details of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December R-FE——F+—_H=+—H  HArEBH %
2012, which materially affected the Group’s results R REAEAAEEATE Y ITEWNB AT ZE
or net assets, are set out in note 41. TR HTEE 41 o

16. Interests in Associates 16. REZ N TIREDRE
The Group
REME
2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT T
Share of fair value of net assets of AEBERRFEELTE

associates

At the beginning of the year REA 81,898 74,478
Share of loss from associates FE(R B & A RIS 18 (13) 2
Reversal of impairment loss BB E B — 7,422
Impairment loss BEEE (20,940) —
At the end of the year NGRS 60,945 81,898
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16. Interests in Associates (Continued) 16. REEE QN EIER(2)

Details of associates are as follows: BEARZFBET :

Place of
incorporation/ Registered Attributable equity interest held by
operation capital an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group  Principal activities
AL/ EEASEL-HHERE2
BEH aRER 2EMBAREE 2 RE TEEH
2012 2011
~B--f %
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
¢4 i EL: fik
Great Wall Mining and Power Corp.  Philippines  PHP2,500,000 Coal mining
(“Great Wall’) FeEZE 2,500,000 =R 40% 24% 40% 24% BERER
Eastern Star Mining and Power Corp.  Philippines  PHP2,500,000 Investment holding
(“Eastern Star’) FEE 2,500,000 %% 40% = 40% — REER
Note: The boards of Great Wall and Eastern Star are not Mt - Great Wall }z Eastern StarZ EE& XK
controlled by the Group. SEEE o
Details of impairment test on interests in REEE R AR ZREARFBRAT -
associates are as follows:
The recoverable amount is in accordance with Al El R EREEEEMTEETEGR
valuation prepared by Greater China Appraisal NAIFREZEE  BEBENFHHEGER
Limited, a firm of professional valuers, based on a BERANKRERRLD)KREEEBH &2 i5HE
value in use calculation using cash flow projections BERzHeREEAREREEFNE - B
based on financial budgets covering an eight- METERIFTA 2 R AIREIR X 5388.77% (=
year period (granted by the Government in the T——4F : 44.01%) °

Philippines upon commencement of production)
approved by management. The pre-tax discount
rate applied to the cash flow projection is 38.77%
(2011: 44.01%).
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16. Interests in Associates (Continued) 16. REEE N TER(E)
The underlying major assumptions used for the HEMAZEEEZ/RENT :

valuation are as follows:

—  production will cover an eight-year period; —  HEFHBEREN\FHE
— total production volume is based on the — BESDNERBNHREFREZFERE

reserves as set out in technical report;

e

— annual production volume will conform to the — FESRFREEER4AETS:
management production plan;

—  current market price of coal is adopted as a — RITEKRMER TRM - (EREEEA
reference to determine the forecast revenue; Wk 2 22K &
and

— the corresponding costs and expenses will — ZEATHEMERELEEEEAE -
be applied with reference to the feasibility 1% FA AR FE PR AN I FRI S o

study report and management projection.

The valuation of the coal mining business in REHEBEHRFEFEER -_ZT——F+_-8
the Philippines as at 31 December 2012 was —t+t—HzZ®“EARAAR77,600,000T(=
RMB77,600,000 (2011: RMB114,892,000), of T ——F: AR®114,892,0007c )+ H
which approximately RMB49,664,000 (2011: B ARMA49,664,000T(ZFT——F: AR
RMB73,531,000) equivalent to approximately #73,531,000 7T ) #H 55 7 49 7% #5 60,945,000
HK$60,945,000 (2011: HK$90,597,000) was TL(ZZ ——4F : % 90,597,0007T) 5F BN
attributable to the interest held by the Group, AEBFFHERD BRR_ZT——F+=-A
resulting in an impairment loss of approximately =+ — B HBRREEE L% 20,940,000 7T
HK$20,940,000 at 31 December 2012 (2011: T ——F  FEREIBRER B 7,422,000
reversal of impairment loss of HK$7,422,000). JL) c BEREERBZBEAETEHRNR - —=
The impairment loss was mainly resulted from FREIRMIGEEB R

the decrease in the coal price in the world market
during the year 2012.
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16. Interests in Associates (Continued)

Movements in accumulated impairment losses on
interests in associates are as follows:

16. REE&E NTIRER(Z)

REpE QR 2 REPREREZ

SEHONT ¢

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T JBMF T
Accumulated impairment losses Rt BEEE
At the beginning of the year REH — 7,422
Impairment loss W EEE 20,940 =
Reversal of impairment loss (B 5 1E #E ) = (7,422)
At the end of the year REFR 20,940 —
Summarised financial information in respect of the ERABE AR 2 EERMRM T

Group’s associates is set out below:

HK$’000 HK$°000
BEFIT BT
Total assets BEE 17,906 15,074
Total liabilities BEE (17,377) (14,609)
Net assets FEE 529 465
Group’s share of net assets of associates ZAEEE(LHERNEFEE 315 298

HK$°000 HK$’000

BYEFT B FoT

Total revenue R = =

Total loss for the year NEFEHREE (21) (6)

Group’s share of losses of associates REEELEE QRN ER (13) (2)
Group’s share of other comprehensive REBE R E QTR

income of associates Hp2EUA — =
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17 Interests in Jointly Controlled Entities 17. REREEHERER
The interests held by the Group in jointly controlled AEERNERIERE(WRESHIHF - AKX
entities which are engaged in the exploration, kA XRAEHEEBIEE 2 EREZED B
exploitation and development of oil and gas in B21% (—E——F 1 21%) % 80% (- T ——
Brunei and Philippines are 21% (2011: 21%) and F :80%) °

80% (2011: 80%) respectively.

The Group
2011
—T——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BYFT BT
At the beginning of the year REA 1,393,203 866,382
Acquisition of subsidiary Ul NG — 309,804
Additional investment FEIMEE 9,521 7,241
Impairment loss BB ETE (13,183) (5,301)
Reversal of impairment loss (B e 1E ) — 215,077
At the end of the year RFR 1,389,541 1,393,203
Analysis of carrying amounts of oil and HEEHEEAFEE 2 HR
gas projects held by jointly controlled EEREESTOT :
entities is as follows:
In Brunei AN 1,085,619 1,083,399
In Philippines RIERE 303,922 309,804
1,389,541 1,393,203

131



Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited

BHAHEREEERA R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B |RMEE

Eﬁ;\

17

— == — ;

December 2012
T—HILFE

Interests in Jointly Controlled Entities
(Continued)

Details of impairment test on interests in jointly
controlled entities are as follows:

Brunei

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
not carried out assessment on the recoverable
amount adopted for the determination of
impairment on interest in a jointly controlled entity
(the “JCE”) because the application for extension
of exploration period, which was expired on 27
August 2012, had not been granted to the JCE.
The JCE has filed an appeal and has sought legal
opinion in respect of the dispute about extension.
As the directors of the Company consider that
the JCE has reasonable grounds to raise fair
claims against the refusal to grant extension of
exploration period with reference to legal opinion
sought by JCE, no provision for impairment
against the carrying value of interest in the JCE at
31 December 2012 has been made by the Group.

In previous year, the recoverable amount was in
accordance with valuation prepared by Greater
China Appraisal Limited, a firm of professional
valuers, based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a twenty-four-year period
(granted by the Government in Brunei upon
commencement of production) approved by
management. The pre-tax discount rate applied
to the cash flow projection was 32.23%.

RAREHERER(F)

REFEEHI B s R EREFBNT

P&

HRERMERPBRER-_ZE-—-FN\A
—tERER) O ERFRLERER T HRZES
ER(HzR)) AEEREREERHAE
BRI E R IR B (EE TR o
MEMFHR—F - HERORE EHFESEOX
BER - ARRESREAZESH EEER
RRR HERASEEBRHERR YIRS
REIREAFHRR  MARBRAR T —=
Fto A=t HEAERRESETRER
1o

NBEFE - AJREE 5 EREXHERTT
BEEFEBRARMGHEZME  RERS
—+mERECXRBRRER &) KB R
EBHt/EZMBREEL 2R eREFRRIRER
EBEE - B RETRRPTA 2 BRTATR IR =
%%32.23% ©
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Interests in Jointly Controlled Entities
(Continued)

Brunei (Continued)

The underlying major assumptions used for the
valuation are as follows:

—  production will cover a 24-year period;

— total production volume is based on the
reserves as set out in technical report;

— annual production volume will conform to the
management production plan;

— current market prices of crude oil and natural
gas are adopted as a reference to determine
the forecast revenue; and

— the corresponding costs and expenses will
be applied with reference to the management
projection.

The valuation of the oil and gas project in Brunei
as at 31 December 2011 was US$664,157,000,
of which approximately US$139,473,000
equivalent to approximately HK$1,083,399,000
was attributable to the interest held by the Group,
resulting in a reversal of impairment loss of
approximately HK$215,077,000 at 31 December
2011. The reversal of impairment loss was mainly
resulted from the increase in the oil and natural
gas prices in the world market during the year
2011.

HEMAZHEBEZE®ELT ¢

— HEFHSEE_+MFHRE:

— REBNERBRWHREMEIMHEFE

|
_Hq
R
Hjm@
JQ
3§
m};
e
HF
i3
i

— BRITRBERRARTEE THRS
EERAIRSE2ZKE R

(3

— Z2EEEERAR  BEAEBRAR
Fs o

NEBRBEBER=_ZFT——F+=A
=+ — B 2z {4 1 5664,157,0003 7T °
H fh #9139,473,0003% jT 1 & 1 4 B ¥
1,083,399,000 LR B A S EFTiFEZ - B
BR-—E——F+-f=1+—BLEMEEE
BB 478 % 215,077,000 7T ° & B (E 5 1B B
BEZRART——FRNEEMBHERK
ARREEFATEL -
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17

Interests in Jointly Controlled Entities
(Continued)

Philippines

The recoverable amount of the interest in a jointly
controlled entity in Philippines is in accordance
with valuation prepared by BMI Appraisals Limited,
a firm of professional valuers, based on market
approach by comparing the subject asset to
similar assets that have been sold in the market
recently and adopting consideration price to
resources multiple of the comparable transactions
to determine the fair value of the asset acquired.

Since the jointly controlled entity is still in its
start-up stage and detailed feasibility study and
production plan have not yet been finalised,
management of the Company considered that
market approach was the appropriate valuation
methodology to determine the fair value of the
interest in the jointly controlled entity.

The valuation of the interest in a jointly
controlled entity as at 31 December 2012 was
HK$303,922,000 (2011: HK$309,804,000),
resulting in an impairment loss of HK$13,183,000
at 31 December 2012 (2011: HK$5,301,000).

Movements in accumulated impairment losses on
interests in jointly controlled entities are as follows:

17.

RitEEGERER(F)

EEE

G IERE 2 AR E B AT E S T
R A (ERDT P AR I AR A TRED
BARUEE - HRARARAERENED
B ENE Y FXEE(HLE  LRATEL
B3 52 REARLF AR AE 2 2
FiE -

ARREEERE - WA ETEMT LRE

HEBESATEDBEENGEEDE B
HREEHEBIENEAIRER - AT

EHm&iEﬁ%lJréﬁH%E €

HRAZHEEEzZR _-_ZT——_F+=A
=+ —HZHEAB 303,922,000 (==
— — 4 : ##309,804,0007T ) 0 EH PN =
T——F+ - A=+—BHBREBEBE
13,183,000 L(=F — — 4 : A& # 5,301,000
JL) °

ERARZEHNERRAREBR2EHNOT

HK$°000 HK$’000
BYEFT B FT
Accumulated impairment losses ZiHREEE
At the beginning of the year REA 96,135 305,911
Recognition of impairment loss IMEERER 13,183 5,301
Reversal of impairment loss B (BB 1 ] = (215,077)
At the end of the year REF LR 109,318 96,135
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17 Interests in Jointly Controlled Entities 17. RAREHEEER(E)

(Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of

the Group’s jointly controlled entities are set out

below:

ERARZEHNER 2 MBERBRIT

HK$’000 HK$’000
BEFTT BT T
Total non-current assets JEmBI & EARE 514,182 467,008
Total current assets BB ERRE 2,752 7,946
Total current liabilities ME B ERE (26,576) (6,852)
Total non-current liabilities EMEBE RERE — =
Net assets FEE 490,358 468,102
Net assets attributable to the Group AEBEEFEE 102,975 99,531
Total revenue I sk 4858 = =
Total operating expenses KR R — =
Total operating loss K iaEER — =
Total financial income R N — =
Total financial expenses s 1% = =
Net results attributable to the Group AEBENFER — —
Total capital commitments BARAERTE 14,632 11,521
Capital commitments attributable R B FE(RE A
to the Group 3,073 2,419
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18. Deferred Exploration Expenditure 18. ELEENRBAX
The Group
rEE
2012
—E—_—F

HK$’000 HK$°000

BYFT JBMF T
Exploration phase HhRPE B
At cost R 22,415 19,826
Less: Impairment losses JB B E = =
Net carrying amount BREFE 22,415 19,826
Reconciliation of movements: LEYEAR -
At the beginning of the year REA 19,826 11,347
Amount recognized BHER L 2,589 8,479
At the end of the year REF LR 22,415 19,826
Ultimate recoupment of this expenditure is SRR AREZAR IR FAEEHEAER
dependent upon the continuance of the Group’s R 2 R 2 FFEM - AARENITHARE
right to tenure of the areas of interest and the ZERER AR A REE - k&8
discovery of commercially viable oil and gas EREEHE Y EABERREME -
reserves, their successful development and
exploitation, or, alternatively, sale of the respective
areas of interest at an amount at least equal to
book value.
Impairment losses are provided for when the REEEER BN E S EER - AELRERIE
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. B o
Exploration expenditure is written off and any RMESHET I ER - SRFAZ WM -
related impairment losses released when permits i A (A KB B R (B 5 48 R JE R [E] -

are relinquished or disposed of.
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19. Amounts due from Subsidiaries 19. EWRKHEBATRIE

The Company

P NN
2012
—E—_—F
HK$’000 HK$°000
BETFT BT
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U BT /B 1 ) R I8 923,889 921,126
Less: accumulated impairment losses i BENREEE (152,202) (152,202)
771,687 768,924
The amounts are unsecured and non-interest HWRIBAERIF N R o ARRESZ RN
bearing. The Company has no intention to demand ERME-FNER  WERBEEEAER
repayment within 1 year after the reporting date BEE o
and the amounts are therefore classified as
non-current assets.
20. Amounts due from Associates 20. FEUEEE N RIFKIE
The Group
REME
2012 2011
—E——fF —T——%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Amounts due from associates JFE Y B 28 A R FR0R 15,085 13,370
The amounts due from associates are unsecured FEUEE A N T ZIE AEIEKE B RERTIE

and non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms FER o
of repayment.
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21. Trade and Other Receivables 21. BWERARRHEMERRE
The Group has a policy of allowing average credit AEBZHERGETHEESEPNTMBEZ—
periods ranging from 2 weeks to 1 month to its Az TR - wtoh - BEFEEIEAH
trade customers. In addition, for certain customers & WERIGBERFCHRZES - AIREER
with long-established relationship and good past Z AR -

repayment histories, a longer credit period may be
granted.

The Group The Company
rEE PN

2012 2012

—E——F —E——F
HK$°000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$°000
BETFT EETT BETT  BETT

Trade receivables FEUR R 5K — 609 — —
Other debtors, deposits and
prepayments HAbEWRIE « e R
TR IR 1,408 18,854 612 949
1,408 19,463 612 949

The Group The Company
rEE PN

2012 2011 2012 2011
—g—_—F T—F B —T——F
HK$’000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000
BT BETT EBEFT BETT

An aged analysis of trade FEU AR 3 2 BR R 9 AT 40
receivables is as follows: ™
61 — 270 days 61 — 270K — 609 —_ —
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21. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that
are not (or neither individually nor collectively)
considered to be impaired is as follows:

21. EWIRAR H b RE W R ()

AR R ARBRER K TIREZ BRRR

Overdue by #61 Hf
91 — 180 days 91 — 180 %

AW
The Group The Company
AEH NN
2012 2011 2012
=E——F —T——F ZB--F
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT BT
= 609 — —

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the
Company’s trade receivables, prepayments
and deposits are denominated in the following

ARG % ) MR A e L A R W SRR O B T
BT E’EEHE :

currencies:
The Group The Company
AEE AT

2012 2011 2012 2011
—E——f ZZ——F ZB--f —T——F
HK$’000 HK$’000  HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT EETT EETFT
HK dollars BIT 985 16,095 612 949
Renminbi ARE 127 1,307 — —
Macau Pataca SBPITT 128 206 — —
US dollars ETT 168 1,855 — =
1,408 19,463 612 949

None of the prepayments, deposits and other
receivables is either past due or impaired. The
financial assets included in the above balances
are related to receivables for which there have
been no recent history of default.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the
reporting date is carrying value of each class of
receivable mentioned above.

BEBENFR - e REMBUGRERE K
ERfE - LSRR eE M EET BT
EHRCEZ EEFORER -

R#E BN EERRRSAERER LR A
FEWGR AR EI(E ©
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22. Cash and Bank Balances 22. HERBITHER

The Group The Company
FEE YN

2012 2011 2012 2011
——f —F——4F —¥—=f —T——%
HK$°’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BETFT EMTT  BETT  EETT

Cash at banks RITIRE 1,529 3,879 139 32
Cash in hand FHEBe 139 321 — —
1,668 4,200 139 32

23. Other Payables 23. HtufE{NFIE

The Group The Company
ZS 3L LN

2012 2011 2012 2011
—§—=% T % —§—=F T —7F
HK$°000 HK$'000  HK$°000 HK$°000
BEFT EETT  BEFT  ENTT

Other creditors and accrued — EfbfER B K ETEH
charges 10,487 13,048 5,837 5,568

The carrying amounts of the above balances were A ESRIBRBREE A T KA
denominated in the following currencies:

The Group The Company
M AR

2012 2011 2012 2011
—B—-f T % ZB--f T %
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
BEFT EETT EBEFT EBETT

HK dollars BT 7,585 10,729 5,837 5,568
Renminbi AR 205 218 — —
Macau Pataca JRPIIT 2,214 1,565 — —
US dollars e 483 536 — —

10,487 13,048 5,837 5,568
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24. Amount due to a Director

24, BENESEFIE

The Group The Company
rEEH AAT

2012 2011 2012 2011

LIN Zhang ROE

—E——f ZZ—F B —T——F
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$000
BlETFT BT BEFT BN TFT

1,005 302 = =

The amount due to a director is unsecured,
interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

25. Amount due to a Shareholder

BNEERESEER RENRERTEENK
HY o

25. ENRRMIEA

The Group The Company
rEE PN

2012 2011 2012 2011

LAM Nam R

—B—-f T % ZB--f —T %5
HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$’000
BEFT BETT BETFT EBETT

50,541 34,494 12,333 15,910

The amount due to a shareholder is unsecured
and interest-free.

As at 31 December 2012, the shareholder agreed
not to demand for repayment the whole or part of
the shareholder’s advances on or before 30 June
2014. Hence, the management of the Company
recorded the balance as non-current liabilities as
at 31 December 2012.

e IR RIBREEAR RS -

RZE——F+-A=+—0 RERE#HT
SE_ZT—MFNA=+HxKZAAH - ;c;Jt
BRI D B RIE - Bt - AR
Efilgﬂv_v—ii‘i'_ﬂi'f'—ﬁé’\]ﬁﬁﬁa
BRIENBERE -
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26. Bank Borrowing 26.

RITEE

The Group
rEE

2012 2011

—E-——fF —E——%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BYFT JBMF T
Carrying amounts repayable BAR—FAEEZRAE

within one year 1,034 1,001
Carrying amounts not repayable within BEARBREBR; —FR
one year from the reporting date but BREHERERER

contain a repayment on demand clause {3 ZEREE - FIR
shown under current liabilities (Note) MEVEEE T () 6,142 7,098
7,176 8,099

Note:

The bank borrowing is under personal guarantee by
a director of a subsidiary and bear fixed interest rate
at 3.25% per annum. The borrowing is repayable by
instalments based on the scheduled repayment dates set
out in the loan agreement.

Bank borrowing with a repayment on demand clause
is included in the “on demand or less than 1 month’s”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31
December 2012, the aggregate undiscounted principal
amount of the bank borrowing amounted to approximately
HK$7,176,000 (2011: HK$8,099,000). Taking into
account the Group’s financial position, the directors do
not believe that it is probable that the bank will exercise
its discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment.
The directors believe that such bank loans will be repaid
in 6.83 (2011: 7.75) years after the reporting date in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set
out in the loan agreement. At that time, the aggregate
principal and interest cash outflows will amount to
HK$9,392,000 (2011: HK$10,645,000).

HraE -

RITEEE—FZMBRARZEREREAER I
REFNKI25%:HE - BERBRBEERBZ I 2
BEHER A M HEE -

AREERERNFTEES A LRI ST EE
kAR —EAAIZEREER - RZT——F+=
B=+—8 SOEEZRABERSBRENRBE
7,176,000 0 (== — —4F : ¥ 8,099,000 7T) ° &
FIRASERMSKR - EEWTBEERITA A8
SITEEMERE - BRI EE - EFHE %%
RITEEBBEBEER MRS O CERBH -
NI EHA%683(ZFE——F:775)FEHE - H
B NS RFBHE LTS /B 9,392,0007T
(ZZ——4F : %% 10,645,000 7T) °
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27. Convertible Bonds 27. ARRES
The Group and the Company
TEBRAKAT
2012 2011
—E——fF —T——%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
At 1 January R—HA—H 91,894 344,894
Liabilities component of the Convertible A #f% (&% B & & &85
Bonds B 15,627 —
Interest charged EEUFIE 13,192 28,256
Interest paid BEfFE (59) (32,485)
Conversion during the year NG =E: — (248,771)
At 31 December W+ZA=+—AH 120,654 91,894
Carrying amount repayable AERZREE
Within one year R—FRA 15,672 —
More than one year, but not exceeding LR —FETBBRF
two years 104,982 91,894
120,654 91,894
(a) The convertible bonds issue to China (a) EREITBEBES(TBRERESFAD

International Mining Holding Company
Limited (the “Bondholder 1”) at a nominal
value of HK$120,000,000 for a term
of 5 years (the “Convertible Bonds A”)
at zero coupon interest of which the
HK$108,000,000 (the “Tranche 27)
was issued on 29 December 2008 and
HK$12,000,000 (the “Tranche 1”) was issued
on 4 February 2009.

The Bondholder 1 has confirmed to the
Company that it will agree to the extension
of the conversion periods of the Convertible
Bonds A upon maturity to a date no earlier
than 30 June 2014 and will not demand
for repayment of the whole or part of the
principal amount of the loans on or before 30
June 2014 if the conversion periods of the
Convertible Bonds A are not extended upon
maturity.

% ™ & 78 # 120,000,000 7T % 1T T
FEBERBEEZERERQAESR
BAEA]) FHASE Hp B
108,000,000t([% — #t |) ® = T
ENF+_AZF L BBETREE
12,000,000 ([ FE—# DR =TT hF
—“ A HET -

BEBAEAICBRAER - EA K
BEFAZHZA  BRAEBSLEREIHA
ERER-ZE-—WFERA=+AH W7
BRESAZIMATELER - §12
EER-Z—NEA=1TH EX{E
B2EEAOAE -
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27. Convertible Bonds (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

The Bondholder 1 may at any business day
falling on the fifth anniversary from the issue
date of the Convertible Bonds A convert the
whole or any part at an amount in an amount
of the Convertible Bonds A into ordinary
shares of HK$0.04 each in the share capital
of the Company at the adjusted conversion
price of HK$0.742 per conversion share.

The fair values of the liability component
of the Tranche 1 and Tranche 2 of the
Convertible Bonds A are measured using a
market interest rate of approximately 11.02%
and 14.62% respectively for an equivalent
non-convertible bond; the remaining
balance, representing the equity conversion
component, is included in equity under
convertible bonds reserve.

Pursuant to a subscription agreement
entered into between the Company and
Silver Star Enterprises Holding Inc. (“Silver
Star”, a substantial shareholder of the
Company which is wholly-owned by Mr.
Lam Nam), the Company issued convertible
bonds with nominal value of HK$100,000,000
for a term of 36 months on 6 September
2011 (the “Convertible Bonds”) at the coupon
rate of 3% per annum accrued on a day to
day basis.

(a)

BEFFHAEAARETHERRESAR
HABFREMEXARITBRES
A RBREESBRABRRNOER0.7427T 5
e BRI ER D A R BT 5 AR E
BB 0.04 T2 EBAL

F—HRE_HARBRESFABETD
ZAFESFEAREAMBRBRES 2T
BREDRI411.02% K 14.62% 515 -
BREEERERS LI D - Dt AR RES
EE RN -

1R ¥ /K A 7 €2 Silver Star Enterprises
Holding Inc. ([Silver Star |lZAREE
ZREMEEE)FILZRBERE A2
RIRZZE——FNANR)REESE
100,000,000 7T % 17 A] #2 % (& % ([ °] &
f&f&% |) T Silver Star - AHI361EA -
FEBR3%FTHR: °
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27. Convertible Bonds (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

Silver Star may at any business day after
the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds
convert the whole or any part at an amount
in an integral multiple of HK$100,000 of the
principal amount of the Convertible Bonds
into ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each in
the share capital of the Company at the
conversion price of HK$0.25 per conversion
share.

During the year ended 31 December 2011,
the Convertible Bonds was fully converted
at the conversion price of HK$0.25 per
conversion share.

The convertible bonds issued to an
independent third party (the “Bondholder 2”)
at a nominal value of HK$16,000,000 on 19
November 2012 (the “Convertible Bonds B”)
at the interest rate of 3% per annum accrued
on a day to day basis will be matured on 19
November 2013.

The Bondholder 2 may at any business day
after the date of issue of the Convertible
Bonds B convert the whole or any part at an
amount in an integral multiple of HK$100,000
of the principal amount of the Convertible
Bonds B into ordinary shares of HK$0.04
each in the share capital of the Company
at the conversion price of HK$0.16 per
conversion share.

The fair value of the liability component of
the Convertible Bonds B is measured using a
market interest rate of approximately 5.40%
for an equivalent non-convertible bond; the
remaining balance, representing the equity
conversion component, is included in equity
under convertible bonds reserve.

27. WBRES(E)

(b)

(%)

Silver StarR] R E AR ESH B BB T
MEZEBERARRESEAS B
100,000 L7 TEBHZEH  REHR
BER BN EK .25 L BE Ik
EREIHD EARBRERAFFREES
¥0.04 02 E@ o

e BBREFER_E—F+_A
Z+—ALFERNUALBRE(ER LR
A1) S #E 0.25 T2 E0) i o

RZE—=ZF+—A+NLB aH
BEHF(ATRKZESB])ZREEBE
16,000,000 L& T TFTRELFE=F([EH
BHAN2])  FEEX3%THZREG
RZZE—=F+—A+NB5H-

BEFA AR ETAHRKRESBH
HREMEX BRI BRRESBALHE
7B #100,000 T2 T EEHRZ 8 -
BB MHEK16TT iR
BAERE D /AR BN FREE
BH#0.04 2 BB -

AHRBEESBNABHNNZAFET
RARFFABMBESZTHHELY
5.40%+T & : SREBEEE L BE D - T)
FEARRBRES R SR o

145



Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited

BHEAHBEBREEGRAE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B |RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2012

EE

28.

—E——Ff—HA=F—HIFFE

Promissory Note

On 21 October 2011, the Company issued a
promissory note with a principal amount of
HK$9,000,000 (“Promissory Note”) to Mr. Lam
Nam, a substantial shareholder of the Company,
as consideration for the acquisition of Mr. Lam
Nam’s 51% of the entire issued share capital
in Mass Leader Inc.. The Promissory Note is
unsecured, bears interest at the rate of 3% per
annum and has a maturity period of 24 months
from the date of issue. Pursuant to the agreement
entered between Mr. Lam Nam and the Company,
Mr. Lam Nam has agreed not to demand for the
repayment of the whole or part of the Promissory
Note on or before 30 June 2014.

28.

A Bl

RZF——F+A=+—8  AAFRALRD
AIZEEMEMEEERITACEABE
9,000,000 7T 2 AR RIE([ANZER]) - 1ER
UG BE MR 6 £ 355 Mass Leader Inc. 2 2E(E
BATIRA51% 2 B - A ZRE T EER
FFIERI% HETARES24EARNEE -
lic% Y NETRte o= BN/ IVA: O 7= NEa ot
EREMEE_ZT—NESA=Z+THKZAE
SOBEAASR D 2 ENERE -

The Group and the Company

AEERFAT
2012 2011
- —T——%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BEFT
As at 1 January n—HA—H 7,842 —
Issuance of promissory note BITES R = 7,728
Imputed interest charge EEMEHAZ 884 167
Interest paid EFE (270) (53)
As at 31 December W+=ZA=+—H 8,456 7,842

Note:

The Promissory Note is measured at amortised cost
using effective interest method with the effective interest
rate at 11.3% per annum.

Hrat -

ENEBRDRERMNE R REHEKX AT E -
FFEEH11.8% °
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29.

Deferred Taxation 29. BREHIE
The Group’s major deferred tax liabilities RAFER EFERRACENELERIBEER
recognised and movements thereon during the HEggmmT :
current and prior year are summarized below:
The Group and the Company REERAERQT
Convertible
bonds
AR IR E S
HK$’000
BEToT
At 1 January 2011 R-_ZE——F—H—H 5,746
Credit to income statement for the year REEFTARGEER (1,109)
At 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 RZEBE—F+-_A=+—H8BxK 4,637
—E——F—H—H
Credit to income statement for the year AFEARER (2,159)
At 31 December 2012 RZTE——F+-A=+—H 2,478

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
the consolidated financial statements of the
Group in respect of tax losses of approximately
HK$34,615,000 (2011: HK$8,063,000) available to
offset future profits due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams against which the asset can
be utilised. The unrecognised deferred tax asset
of the Group in respect of deductible temporary
differences attributable to unused tax losses as
at 31 December 2012 amounted to approximately
HK$5,863,000 (2011: HK$7,654,000).

HRAREETER S A R aF RIR A A& E
F oA G - B AR BE A T R AR T 2 B
B8 34,615,000 T( =T ——4F :
5 8,063,000 7T ) A AL B 7 7 & B IS 3R 3= 1
RELEHBEE R _TE—F+_A=1+—
A NEE SR EIBE (G A 5 TR =
BERRELERIEEEL A 5,863,000 7T
—T——4 : #B¥7,654,0007T) °
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30. Business Combinations 30. ¥KEHt
Subsidiaries acquired Fruk BB Fft B A &)
There was no subsidiary acquired during the year R —FRTEWREHRB AR -
2012.
Details of subsidiaries acquired in 2011 are as N-E——FAFANENBARIZEENT
follows:
Proportion of
ownership interest
Name of subsidiary Principal activity Date of acquisition acquired
MELRGE FEEH WEE B A R R RS L
Directly Indirectly
B i3
Mass Leader Inc. (“ML”) Investment holding 21 October 2011 = 51%
Mass Leader Inc. ([ML]) AR =5
+HZ-+—H
China International Mining Mineral and energy 21 October 2011 = 100%
Petroleum Company Limited related business —ZFE——%F
(“CIMP”) ) K s IR AE +A=+—8H
PRI AR B R A R ES
([ R A R )
The acquisition of ML and CIMP (wholly-owned U B ML Kz R SCREERARMLZZEWE
subsidiary of ML) (“ML Group”) was satisfied by ANRD(IMLEE D DBEARBIETRSERE
the Company issuing the Promissory Note at a #9,000,0007T « BHE 1T A BAEET 2418 A
principal amount of HK$ 9,000,000 with 24 months B RIRFE B K 3% B AWM EE A -
maturity from the date of issue at 3% coupon rate
per annum.
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30.

=L o L £F [EF
T —HIFFR

Business Combinations (Continued)
Subsidiaries acquired (Continued)

ML and CIMP were acquired so as to continue
the expansion of the Group’s energy-related
business. Details of acquisition of the ML Group
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
9 September 2011.

Consideration transferred

ZL S

Promissory note

30. ¥KS56t(E&)
FrUk BB He B A 5 (42)

Wi ML & B BB % 26 00k 2 B ) R B 1R
RASBEEBRHABRS - WEMLEEZHIB
ENARBAR—_ZE——FNLANBHEZR
# o

cEENE

ML Group
ML&EE
HK$°000
BT T

7,728

Acquisition-related costs of ML Group amounting
to HK$128,981 have been excluded from
the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense in the period, within the
‘administrative and other operation expenses’ line
item in the income statement.

WML E B 2 AR AN B 128,981 TP K
AREZERE  YERHARRARER
[TTHREEMEERY | —BZMAX -
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30. Business Combinations (Continued) 30. ¥¥a6t(#EZ)
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at RUBAYPRAZCWBEERAS
the date of acquisition
ML CIMP Total
wh ] B R
ML £ Fap:: At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BB T T BT T BT T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Interests in jointly controlled RERZEGEE 2
entities (Note) ) — 309,804 309,804
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables JREE L2 B R e L b L
A — 257 257
Cash and cash equivalents ReRESZED — 81 81
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables R <1 BIR R R L A P A+
7 — (9,066) (9,066)
Due to a shareholder JES ISR IR (2,671) — (2,671)
Bank loan RITER — (8,175) (8,175)
(2,671) 292,901 290,230
Note: CIMP holds 80% of interest in a jointly controlled Hiat - mEIBEREE AR A — R FRBFEEE
entity who is engaged in the exploration, REZBRBEONRFEEFIBEREESHE
exploitation and development of oil and gas in FER % BB SR 2 SRR I E S 2 80% s o
Cebu Island, Central Philippines under the service
contract granted by the government of Philippines.
In order to determine the fair value of the RETFZAREHEEEANEEMLEE S
interest in the jointly controlled entity at the date HzATE  BEMGEMTHRNARTEE
of acquisition of the ML Group, valuation was RARIBBETISEREGE HERKERH
prepared by BMI Appraisals Limited, a firm of BEEMAHETNS ERE 2 BUEEFD L
professional valuers, based on market approach by B WERATTELERR S 2 REERLEEN
comparing the subject asset to similar assets that EBEMBRBEEZ AFE -

had been sold in the market recently and adopting
consideration price to resources multiple of the
comparable transactions to determine the fair value
of the asset acquired.
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30. Business Combinations (Continued) 30. ¥¥E86t(42)

REBRHRRCENBEERAE(E)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at
the date of acquisition (Continued)

Note: (Continued) Hiet - (&)
The management of the Company considered that RARERERR  UNISEEEMBELR

market approach was the appropriate valuation EHEBERATENBEENHERE

methodology to determine the fair value of the AREEMNENEVAIREE - BERKEMLE

interest in the jointly controlled entity acquired due HER AR ITIEH R R EE 8 RTE

to the asset is still in its start-up stage and detailed o

feasibility study and production plan have not yet

been finalised at the date of acquisition of ML

Group.

Non-controlling interests FEFE I RE S

R UCES B B R 2 IAML 2 3E 12 il M # 2%
(49%) 4978 # 142,213,000 7T T3 2 & A FEE
HRMLEERAER 2 LLOIGTE -

The non-controlling interests (49%) in ML
recognised at the acquisition date amounting to
approximately HK$142,213,000 was measured in
proportion of their interest held in the ML Group by
reference to the fair value.

Goodwill arising on acquisition KBHEEZHE

ML Group
MLE®E
HK$’000
BT T
Consideration transferred EHEERE 7,728
Plus: non-controlling interests (49% in ML) 20 PRSI (ML 2 49%) 142,213

Less: fair value of identifiable net assets JE TR #AFEEZ ATE
acquired (290,230)
Negative goodwill arising on acquisition WHERELEZa/mE (140,289)

Note: At the date of acquisition, the Company agreed B - RRE B AARRERBEMLER ZE

to purchase and Mr. Lam Nam (substantial
shareholder of the Company) agreed to sell,
the 51% equity interest in ML at a tatal price of
HK$9,000,000 with reference to the book value of
ML Group. Subsequent to acquisition, valuation of
the fair value of the asset acquired was prepared
in accordance with the HKFRS 3. As a result,
negative goodwill was recognised in respect of
the excess of acquiree’s interest in fair value
of acquiree’s identifiable net assets over the
consideration transferred.

TE {E LA 42 {8 7 ¥ 9,000,000 7T #& B ifn # 8 5t
E(RRAREZRR)AEHEMLZ51% K
7o MUEER - T E E 2 A FER/ETD
REEVEREENFEIRMmEL - FiL - A
BB UIE T R B S AR FREAF
Bz ESEBMEBRENE L ZRER -
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Business Combinations (Continued)

Net cash inflow on acquisition of subsidiaries

Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired

30. ¥KS6t(E&)

WEHE AR ZFRRERA
HK$°000
BT T
ik iER & MRS FEY A 81

Impact of acquisitions on the results of the
Group

Included in the profit for the year is loss of
HK$53,533 attributable to the additional operating
loss incurred by ML Group which has no revenue
for the year.

If the acquisition of the ML Group had been
completed on 1 January 2011, there would be
insignificant effect on the Group’s turnover and
profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2011.

The above proforma information is for illustrative
purpose only and is not necessarily an indication
of turnover and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2011,
nor is it intended to be projection of future results.

BEHAREEEZE

REFDHEF R B FEMLEBEAA 2 BIMNEEE
TEFE(L 2 51878 % 53,533 T © ML &£ B A K4
B WS o

HMKEMLERER -_SE——F—A—H%
B B AERHEE—T——F+=-A=1+—
HItFEZ EEBRANARHEE AEGEFZ
FERK -

bBiiEZEERERRRA T —ERRHEBEE
R-F——F—H - HTAMEERKS A
SEEXBEREERE  TEEE/RREE
B -
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31.

— == — ; —

December 2012
T—HILFE

Transactions with Non-controlling
Interests

During the year 2012, the Group had transacted
with non-controlling interests to acquire additional
equity interests of 9.9% and 49% in Sinotech
Polyard Petroleum Exploration & Development
Research Institute Limited (“Sinotech Polyard
Petroleum”) and in China New Star Petroleum
Drilling Services Company Limited (“China New
Star”) at purchase consideration of HK$1 and
HK$14,700,000 respectively (2011: Nil). The
controlling interests held by the Group in Sinotech
Polyard Petroleum and China New Star changed
from 60.1% to 70% and from 51% to 100%
respectively after the completion of acquisition.
The carrying amount of the non-controlling
interests in proportion to the additional equity
interest acquired in Sinotech Polyard Petroleum
and China New Star at the date of acquisition was
HK$35,000 (net liabilities) and HK$14,635,000 (net
assets) respectively. The Group recognized the
difference between the changes in non-controlling
interests of HK$14,600,000 and the excess of
consideration paid over the carrying amount
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.

31.

BEFEFIMERRS

REZT—ZFF @ AEBERIEZEFIMHERSS B
AR BB A1 7T I 78 114,700,000 7T 35 A #E
5h9.9% H R E HABBERFAEHRERBRA
(R RI A A AMR) M 49% F B3 2 A miE
RS BMR AR (FREFE)F IR A#EZ (2011
/) EREER  AASBEETRRIEEA
A N B 3T 2 B 12 il M RE 25 5 Bl R 60.1% 78
BET70%NMHA51%HAEE100% - R EE
B REIEBAFREEAGHERPREFED
MRS B - JEIEHI MRS BREED B A
715 35,000 T (F B E) RE % 14,635,000 7T
CFEE) - AEE#5% 14,600,000 7T 7 FF
THM S REMRERERAENERE
HEAEZMEBARGHEE AT -
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32. Share Capital 32. ®A&
The Group and the Company
AEBREAT
Number of shares Amount
RHBEE o]
2012 2011 2012 2011
—B——F —T——F B —T——%F
‘000 0oo HK$’000 HK$°000
Fi TR BYFT BEFT
Authorised: JETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.04 &R E{ESEK
each 0.047T 2,500,000 2,500,000 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRETE
At beginning of the year REF] 1,822,506 2,433,600 72,900 24,336
Effect of share consolidation & 6 2 & — (2,054,082) — =
Issue of rights shares FITHARAR (D — 457,764 — 9,155
Issue of shares upon debt B EREB T
restructuring &1 — 583,333 — 23,333
Issue of shares upon RERARRE
conversion BIEFITRG
of convertible notes — 400,000 — 16,000
Issue of shares to an M {E 8 BT
employee 4,235 1,891 170 76
At end of the year REFR 1,826,741 1,822,506 73,070 72,900
Pursuant to the ordinary resolutions passed in BERZE——FRATILBZREFIAE
the extraordinary general meeting on 19 May LBRZEBRBR  ARRABETRRE
2011, (i) every two ordinary shares of HK$0.01 TRATEMBREREMESK0.01TZEB
each in the issued and unissued share capital BEEHARNRARRIEHEITRAREITRAFR—
of the Company were consolidated into one EREESE0.02 T2 &M ERA : K (i)
consolidated ordinary share of HK$0.02 each KR EZIETERA TN B 15 5% 3,000,000,000
in the issued and unissued share capital of the [T REB2ITHFE AR AAEK
Company, and (ii) the authorised share capital of 40,000,0007c(% /42,000,000,000 & &
the Company was increased from HK$40,000,000 B B 19 ) 18 b0 = 7% # 100,000,000 70( 5 A
divided into 2,000,000,000 consolidated shares 5,000,000,000 B & HFA% 15 ) °

to HK$100,000,000 divided into 5,000,000,000
consolidated shares by the creation of
3,000,000,000 new consolidated shares of
HK$0.02 each.
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Share Capital (Continued)

A rights issue was completed on 10 June 2011
and 457,763,688 rights shares were allotted and
issued at a subscription price of HK$0.12 per
rights share. The rights shares rank pari passu
in all respects with the existing shares of the
Company.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the
extraordinary general meeting on 29 August 2011,
every two ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each in the
issued and unissued share capital of the Company
were consolidated into one consolidated ordinary
share of HK$0.04 each in the issued and unissued
share capital of the Company.

On 6 September 2011, pursuant to a subscription
agreement dated 30 June 2011, 583,333,333
subscription shares were allotted and issued at an
issue price of HK$0.24 per subscription share. The
subscription shares rank pari passu in all respects
with the existing shares of the Company.

On 15 September 2011, 400,000,000 conversion
shares were allotted and issued upon full
conversion of the convertible notes in an
aggregate principal amount of HK$100,000,000
at a conversion price of HK$0.25 per conversion
share. The conversion shares rank pari passu
in all respects with the existing shares of the
Company.

On 18 November 2011, pursuant to an employment
agreement, 1,890,952 employee shares were
allotted and issued at an issue price of HK$0.3323
per share. The employee shares rank pari passu
in all respects with the existing shares of the
Company.

On 21 May 2012, pursuant to the above-mentioned
employment agreement, 2,464,764 employee
shares were allotted and issued at an issue price
of HK$0.2563 per share. On 29 November 2012,
pursuant to the same employment agreement,
1,770,077 employee shares were allotted and
issued at an issue price of HK$0.3560 per share.
The employee shares rank pari passu in all
respects with the existing shares of the Company.

32. BRA(E)

HER-_F—-——FX"H+ B XK
457,763,688 A A B 10 42 R 15 18 8 A AR AR
B 012 TR B R BT - HBRBROHKRES
EERNRPRE KD EBRFHA

BRER-ZZ——FN\A =T NBZBRRRFHIKX
BB ERRER  BMRARRCET
RARBEITRAPEEES0.02TZ EBRA
HRARREBHTRARBETEATZ —KEK
BHO0.04TT 2 A ERK °

W_Z——FHANE  BERHA-ZT——
FRA=THZREWZ * 583,333,333 %R
BRMERSRRERMN B 0.24 T 2317
BEEE KT - REROHN S A MERQRIR
BERMDEBRSFHAL -

RZB——FAATEB RNIRTFREHRRR
MBI B EER AN BEARBE
100,000,000 JT 2 AJ #A AR SR 15 1% B Bl 3% 2 B2 1T
400,000,000 A% &R A% 7 o (B RS 5
ARARZBRBERDZEERSFHAL -

RZF——F+—A+N\B BREERERS
£ 1,890,952 KB ERMHEIRBREITES
#0.3323 THECE R EIT - BEERMGNEHE
BANGZBERMDEERFHAL

RZZE——FRA=-+—8  RBELiERE
WEE - 2,464,764 BREERMNEREMKE
TEABH 02563 LB NETT - R=2F—=
F+—AZ+ B BER—EEHZZE
1,770,077 RIEEERMNEZESERETELSK
0.3560 LA KR E1T - EERMMN S HmE
ARRZBRBERNDZEERSFHAL -
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33. Reserves 33. f#fE
The Group KE
Convertible
Share Special  Exchange Capital bonds Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
RHEE KRR EX G Erfie TEREGRE  RERA @it
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B¥Tn  B¥fr EEFn BETn BRFn BT BETa
At 1 January 2011 R=F—%-f-A 531,831 985 57 15,392 48,689 960 597,914
Total comprehensive income  AEE2ANEEE
for the year - - (106) - — 302,282 302,176
Issue of rights shares EftRRG 45,777 - - - - - 45,777
Formation of a subsidiary RIMELRR - - - - - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEENB AT - - - - - - -
Issuing expenses relatingto BB AR
rights issue (1,183) — — — — — (1,183)
Conversion of convertible notes BT BRE 84,000 - - - - - 84,000
Shares subscriptions PR 117,219 - - - - - 117,219
At 31 December 2011 R-F——%+-A=1-H 777,644 985 (49) 15,392 48,689 308,242 1,145,903
At 1 January 2012 R-E--#-A-H 777,644 985 (49) 15,392 48,689 303,242 1,145,903
Total comprehensive income ~ AFE2ENFEE
for the year = = (152) = = (61,342) (61,494)
Acquisition of additional interests KB A &l 2 E5MES
in subsidiaries (note 31) (Hizt31) - - - - - (100) (100)
Issue of employee shares BIEERN 1,092 - - - - - 1,092
Issue of convertible bonds EGRE = - - - 373 - 373
At 31 December 2012 RZF-—#+-f=1-H 778,736 985 (201) 15,392 49,062 241,800 1,085,774
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33. Reserves (Continued) 33. REEE)
The Company RAF]
Share Accumulated Capital Convertible
premium losses reserve  bonds reserve Total
RitifE ZithR BrGE  TRRESRRE gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEF7 BEFT AEF7 BEF7 AEFT
At 1 January 2011 RZE—%-A-H 556,711 (233,499) 15,392 48,690 387,294
Loss for the year rEERE - (36,998) - - (36,998)
Issue of rights shares EAHERRD 45,777 - - - 45,777
Issuing expenses relating torights ~ AEEH 2 &Y
issue (1,183) — - — (1,183)
Conversion of convertible notes ERURREE 84,000 - - - 84,000
Shares subscription HERD 117,219 — — — 117,219
At 31 December 2011 R=E-——%+-A=1-H 802,524 (270,497) 15,392 48,690 596,109
At 31 December 2011 and RZF—5+ZR=1-Ak
at 1 January 2012 “5-2%-f-A 802,524 (270,497) 15,392 48,690 596,109
Loss for the year KEEER - (23,048) - - (23,048)
Issue of employee shares BrEERD 1,092 - - - 1,092
Issue of convertible bonds EAmakES - - - 373 373
At 31 December 2012 RZF-—#+-f=1-H 803,616 (293,545) 15,392 49,063 574,526
(a) Nature and purpose of reserves (a) RBEZMHERAH
(i)  Share premium () RitpaE
Under the Companies Law (Revised) REREHERAREKER)SE
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, 22%  ANRAZ IR 6 B AT A LA
the share premium of the Company DIRSR AR TR - AR
is available for paying distributions or REANFMABERAMARZ
dividends to shareholders subject to BIE > RREREDIRIORMTRE
the provisions of its Memorandum or % NRARIEBREHEEERE
Articles of Association and provided ¥R 2 B EER -

that immediately following the
distribution or dividend, the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business.
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33. Reserves (Continued) 33. REEE)
(a) Nature and purpose of reserves (a) REEZIHEERBENE)
(Continued)
(i)  Special reserve (i) HFIFE
The special reserve represents the 5 Bl R B R B AN R DA T 4
difference between the paid up capital “/\72%@&2@1#%@{%2&
of the previous holding company of NEIROR S _FHEEEH
the Group acquired and the nominal ERGMARRAFRIER EHE
value of the Company’s shares issued TEEEASRWESEMET
for the acquisition at the time of the ZARRNBIRDEEZZEE °

group reorganization for the listing of
the Company’s shares on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in

2002.

(iii) Exchange reserve (iii) EZFEE
The exchange reserve comprises all EHFEPEMBREHINEGE
foreign exchange differences arising MSmERMEEZINEZRE - &
from the translation of the financial BRI M FE3() FrEl 2 @ 5t BUR IR
statements of foreign operations. The I o

reserve is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies set out in note

3(1).
(iv) Convertible bonds reserve (iv) FTRREFEE

The convertible bonds reserve has AMBRESFHHELEERY - WR

been set up and is dealt with in YRR RE 3(r) PTEL BE PT IR AR (B H R AR

accordance with the accounting policies ZEETBURERE -

adopted for convertible bonds in note
3(r).

(v) Capital reserve (v) EBEX@EE
Capital reserve represents the change BAREFHERTCHEEGFTBRRE
in fair value arising from the revaluation FREELZ A FER

of convertible bonds upon extension.
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Reserves (Continued)
(b) Distributability of reserves

At the end of the reporting period, in the
opinion of the directors, the Company’s
reserves available for distribution to owners
of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$510,071,000 (2011: HK$532,027,000).

Share Option Schemes

The Company adopted two share option schemes
(hereinafter referred to as the “Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme” and the “Share Option Scheme”)
on 26 June 2002 for the purpose of providing
incentives to the Directors and eligible participants,
under which the Company may grant options to the
Directors and employees of the Group and also
other eligible participants to subscribe for shares
of the Company. The schemes became effective
on 12 July 2002 and, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in effect for 10 years from
that date.

On 26 June 2002, prior to its listing, the Company
granted options to certain executive Directors
and employees of the Group to subscribe for an
aggregate of 251,000,000 shares in the Company
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. The
terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
are the same as the Share Option Scheme as
described below except that:

(i) the eligible participants are confined to
certain directors, senior management,
employees, consultants and advisers of the
Group:

(i)  there is no minimum subscription price;

33.

34.

fEtE(E)
(b) HHDIKREE

RBEBHR EERE AAAAH
DIERTARBER AN ZGELH BB
510,071,0007C(= & — — F : ¥
532,027,0007T) °

BRETE

REBMEERABER2EE  ARFAR_FT
—FERNAZ T ANBRAMIERRETEI(TX
BAIERARBERBIRET S R BRE
2] Bt ARFARAAKREZEEZRE
ITREMEERZEBER THBIREAHZEAR
RERD - ZETEIR TR _F AT AL

B BRBECESIEISN - BARARTFR
B
R=TE-FAA=tAR  RAARBER

AFAREATEREE - RE FmATmASE
ETHTESREIREBRENRES X
251,100,000 E AR R B %D © % B X AFEE
AR AR ME AT 2] 2 (&SR 1 T BRI T B 2 163K
IR

() ARERZEELRBRAEEETEE 5
REERE BB - ERARER

(i) WEREREBE
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34. Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(iiiy the general scheme limit, the individual
limit applicable to each proposed grantee
and the restrictions on grant of options to a
connected person do not apply; and

(iv) the directors may only grant options under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme at any
time within a period from 26 June 2002 to 12
July 2002.

The share options granted under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme had either been exercised
or lapsed by 31 December 2008.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme
include the following:

(i) any employee or proposed employee
(whether full time or part time) of the Group
or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which
any member of the Group holds any equity
interest (including any executive director but
excluding any non-executive director of the
Group or any Invested Entity);

(i) any non-executive director (including
independent non-executive director) of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(iiiy any supplier of goods or services to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(iv) any customer of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

(v) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support
to the Group or any Invested Entity;

34.

BRETE(E)

(i) —REIRE  BAREBREARAZ
EAREE R [ BEA TR B RE 2R
HIHNER R

(ivy EFEAR-_ZZTE_FA=-+HZE
—ET-F+ A+ - BHAEMAER
BIEE X ARBEEA BRI SR E
A o

R-PRNF+-A=+—RA BEERA
B 1 1 MR T U9 1 R R
S o

BREABZAERSEEBEIATAL:

() AEEXAREEMRNKERREAEMA
Tz ENER(TRERR ] ZEME
ERHEREE(THE2BIFER) &
RAKBREMKREER 2 EMATE
T ETERAKEREMRERR
ERZERITES -

(i) AEBESEAREBERZEAIENTE
F(BEBLFATES)

(i) AAKBEERKE QB EREEEE
PRALE MR 2 ] HLRERS
(iv) ZEBESEMBREERG 2 EMEP

(v) MAREREMREBEBREHAE  H
BREMBRMIE 2 EMALRER

160



Annual Report 2012 =& — = & £

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B E|RME

For the year ended 31

Bl =%

34.

December 2012
° FE

== o / =,/
= o= 7 T —H/

Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(vi) any shareholder of any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(vii) any adviser (professional or otherwise)
or consultant to any area of business or
business development of any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity; and

(viii) any company wholly owned by one or more
of the eligible participants referred to in (i) to
(vii) above.

The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is not permitted to exceed 30% of the
shares of the Company in issue from time to
time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. The number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted to any individual
in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue from time to
time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Options granted to substantial
shareholders or independent non-executive
Directors or their associates in excess of 0.1%
of the Company’s share capital or with a value
in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in
advance by the Company’s shareholders.

34.

BRETE(E)

(vi) ANEEERKERARIEMREES
ERIARER - AR B{EMRIK B AR SE
AEEERET2ANELF2EWNEE
A

(vii) 75 A B A 7 1R S B AT
LB LN E GE 2 AR (%
BRI EMER)REHA R

(viii) BBl (i) = (vi) B ATIR I 2 — {E =k % &

BERSAEZEHARZEARAT -

BRIEA QB IRER E & - BRI EREIE
TR 2 AR TS R 2 IR D AR BCTNS AB B
KRR NEEEITRGN 2 30% ° BRIEAR A
AR EEAE - T ANEAERIA L RER — @
FENAER 2 BRERS R BRHEE TG
HBBARRTREBEITRG Z1%  WFEFE
ERRSBUINTEEIR S IBHBEALY
BB AARRRA01% N EEBRBBE
5,000,000 7T * BIZBACAR N R IR R FE S #HE 4 ©
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Share Option Schemes (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be
accepted within 21 days from the date of the
offer. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable
on acceptance of each grant. Options may be
exercised at any time during a period which may
commence on a day after the date of grant of
the share options but shall end at any event not
later than ten years from the date of grant of the
options. The exercise price is determined by the
Directors of the Company, and will be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant, (ii) the average
closing price of the shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant, and (iii)
the nominal value of the shares.

As at 31 December 2012, no options had been
granted under the Share Option Scheme.

Retirement Benefit Schemes

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions at HK$1,250 or
5% of the relevant payroll costs, whichever is the
lower, to the scheme. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make
the required contributions under the scheme.

34.

35.

BRETE(E)

ROEREZEZEZTNREZBBEFT218R
B o REMERE LR - BERRBXRES
AT o BREARNEATEAERTE - B
A AT B BB A IR H B R E ] — BB FE A -
MR A (A M E R AR R B AR 14
i (THEERARAESEE WKEDR
() ARRIRH AL B2 WHE - (i) &HD
ZEFELABRNAGRSZ A2 FHKRHE - A
R (i) ROEERZHEEE °

b":‘:;f—_i—f—_ﬁ =+—H  WEREER
=t B R A HE -

RKEFETE

AEERBAMERERREERE —HBHIE
NEEEE([RERFE)) - BESHEIZE
ERAEERZEESFRE  mBUXEARE
HZzREERE - REBBESHIZHRE B

K EEB AR B R%T8#MmER 1,250 7T
SARAH S HAS5% (ABRIEE RE) 2 3K -
AEEpBRESHARZE-—RIAREZ
STEIBMPT R R -
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Retirement Benefit Schemes (Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the
People’s Republic of China are members of a
state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated
by the local government. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute a specified percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to
make the specified contributions.

Related Party Transactions

Save as disclosed in elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had
transactions with the following related parties
during the year:

(a) Transactions and balances between the
Company and its subsidiaries, which are
related parties of the Company, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not
disclosed in this note.

(b) Remuneration for key management
personnel of the Group, including the
Company’s Directors and certain highest
paid employees, is set out in note 9.

() During 2011, a license fee income amounted
to approximately HK$50,000 which was
included in sundry income, was charged
by the Company for services rendered to a
related company, in which Mr. Lam Nam, the
substantial shareholder of the Company, has
material interest.

(d) During the year, the Group made/received
advances to/from related parties. Details and
balances outstanding as at 31 December
2012 are disclosed in notes 20, 24 and 25.

35.

36.

RIEFETEIE)

AEERTEARKNBEANBARZES
EHBE MBS 2 BRERRANENG
BB - ZEMBARIERHF KA ZIEE
B LRZERERE BN - WERZERE
NEHRES - ARERZEARBFFEAEZ
ME—BERBMEEHRL -

BLERS

=

BRI ANAR & TS R B A 3 77 PR EE S » NS
BNFEN R ETUTRS ¢

RAREENBAR(REARBET)
ZR 5 MEHRERERS IR B ME R &
EAMERHE -

—
Q
~

(b) TEBTIZEBAB(BREARAEENR
ETHEeTMER) 2 MEBNME -

(c) MIZZT——F  FFAFEBAZETE
2 B #78% 50,000 7T S5 B AR B HEA A
FERAMEEE(RRREERE)EE
BN 2 FE N R 2 RS T R

d FER AEBRBEEAHER RS
HeFBEN_E——F+_A=1+—
B2z REEZGNKIE20 - 24 % 253

= .
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37. Operating Leases 37. KEHELD
Minimum lease payments paid by the Group as AEBRFARBLEERNZ N 2 REHS -

lessee under operating leases during the year:

The Group The Company
REME NN

2012 2012

—E——F —E—_—F
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
EBEFT BB TFT BT BB TFT

Premises and equipment LIE Y& 2,676 2,294 1,678 1,334
At the reporting date, the total commitments RIRERE - RETATHELSLENFHARR
for future minimum lease payments under non- SRS 7 @FEENT -

cancelable operating leases are as follows:

The Group The Company
rEE ENE|

2012 2011 2012 2011
—g-=% —T—% =—R-=—F —F—F
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BEFT  EMTT  BEFT  EETI

Premises and equipment LI EINEL |
— within 1 year — —FR 1,850 3,967 1,423 1,798
— due after 1 year but — —F&

within 5 years BRER — 1,958 — 1,423

1,850 5,925 1,423 3,221
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38.

39.

Capital Commitments

At the reporting date, the capital commitments
outstanding contracted for but not provided for
in these consolidated financial statements are as
follows:

Contributions to a jointly controlled entity
(note)

38. BEAREE

RI\ER - EFTOMERR ARG E M RR BB
ZHARBITERALEMT

HE T HEEG R (MZ)

The Group
AEE
2011
—T——4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
B FTT BB TFT
35,780 93,862

Note: In 2011, the amount was arrived at after taking
into account a sum of approximately HK$5,183,000
which has been agreed by the operator of the
jointly controlled entity to pay for the Group
according to a farmout agreement.

Contingent Liabilities

On 28 August 2012, a jointly controlled entity
(the “JCE”) of the Group was demanded for the
payment of compensation of US$16,350,000
(approximately HK$127,530,000) in respect of the
incomplete obligations in drilling program arising
from the rejection of application for extension
of exploration period of oil and gas project in
Brunei as set out in note 17. The JCE has filed
an appeal and has sought legal advice in respect
of the dispute about extension. The management
of the Company considers that no compensation
will be required if the dispute about extension
is resolved in favour of the JCE. Accordingly,
provision for compensation of US$3,433,500
(approximately HK$26,781,000), which represents
21% participating interest of the Group in the JCE,
has not been made by the Group in this respect.

Wit RZF——F ZeBENEHROBE
5,183,000 T2 & RE&EH - ThHEREH EE
ZHREFRERESEREINTFARER 2
£H -

39. HARERE

RZFE——FNAZ+N\B - BREEHES
—EHRAEGEE(HZEEDREERGR
SCHEOR RIE B )R AARR A FR B 1R 1B 4R (B At
R EE17) - BBUREEEREHEME - KT
BRERKEE-—TAEB=ZtTABEXT(HE
B E_FT+rERET=87t) mEHFZ
—F HAEBEERLEFESHEZER -
MEFZENRABNREZERE  ARAFF
BEEESELEE - Al BAEEBFEE
HEEE 2T —2HBEHE  AEEYW
RE A=A+ =8=TRBEET(HBE
ZFARBETNAE—TIL)MREELRE -
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40. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 40. MEEBRERARER
Management
(a) Financial risk management (a) HMBEERKRER
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) HBTAZZE
The Group AEE

HK$°000 HK$’000
BEFT BT T

Financial assets MBEE
Trade and other receivables JFE U BR 3R R ELAth e Uk FR B 1,408 19,463
Amounts due from associates JE Y B 8 N B R 15,085 13,370
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHEH 1,668 4,200
18,161 37,033

Financial liabilities [ E3=Ri
Other payables Hh FE 3R 10,487 13,048
Amount due to a director B E S IR 1,005 302
Convertible bonds AR ES 120,654 91,894
Promissory note ZERES 8,456 7,842
Bank borrowing RITEE 7,176 8,099
Amount due to a shareholder JEAAR B RUA 50,541 34,494
198,319 155,679
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40. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 40. BRRABRERRMER(Z)
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HMERKREEE)
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) HBEIRZRHE(E)
(Continued)
The Company NN |

HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T

Financial assets HHREE
Trade and other receivables JFE UK BR 3% R EL Ath i W FR IR 612 949
Cash and bank balances B RIRTTAE R 139 32
751 981

Financial liabilities [ 3=Ri
Amount due to a shareholder JE IR R FIA 12,333 15,910
Promissory note ZNES 8,456 7,842
Other payables Hoh FE AT 3RIR 5,837 5,568
Convertible bonds AR E S 120,654 91,894
147,280 121,214
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40. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(a)

Financial risk management (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management and
policies (Continued)

financial
instruments are disclosed in section
(a) of this note. The risks associated
with these financial instruments
include market risk (foreign currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk and policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

The Group’s major

(i)  Market risk management

Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain foreign
currency cash and bank balances,
trade and other receivables,
amounts due from associates
and jointly controlled entities,
and trade and other payables
denominated in foreign currencies
other than the respective
functional currencies of the
entities and thus expose the
Group to foreign currency risk.
The management continuously
monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider
hedging foreign currency risk
should the need arise.

40.

B¥ERRERRBRER(E)

(a) HIBRABERE)

(b) HHEEBEZERKE(E)

REBZ T ERBETARARKE
(@) fFRE - FAZEMBITAZ
2B B 15 T 35 B (S0 B % )
XER) FERREABDESR
% MAEZFRRZBEERT
XHEY - EEHEBEERERZE
R AREFERERETERZE

B -

(i) TEEEEE
HNES [\ B2

REBEEB NG (ER

BHENEEERERINIIEZ
INESIR & ERTTAE R - FEUK
R IR R Ho At UK FRIE - R
Bt N E) R HEEEG R
T A % FE <1 BR 3R R EL b B A+
B - A ANEEAEAZ N
R - BIEEHEERIN
WHEREEERE

¥ E R
BEMPINE R

168



Annual Report 2012 =T — = £ £

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B E|RME

For the year ended 31 December 2012
BEr _FE——F 1+ _A=1—HIFE

40. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 40. BRRABRERRMER(Z)
Management (Continued)
(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HBEREE(E)
(b) Financial risk management and (b) HEEBREEREZE)

policies (Continued)

(i) Market risk management (i) TEERERE(E)
(Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) SN R (4F)
The carrying amounts of the REE B E - KRR FLASNE
company’s significant foreign NBECEREREEREE
currency denominated monetary BECEREENT

assets and monetary liabilities at
the reporting date are as follows:

The Group AEE
Assets
BE

2012

—E——fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEFIT BT
Renminbi AREE 802 716
Macau Pataca il 834 149
United State dollar ETT 438 103
Philippines Peso FERERR 6 238
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40. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 40. BRRABRERRMERE(Z)
Management (Continued)
(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HBEREE(E)
(b) Financial risk management and (b) HEEBREEREZE)

policies (Continued)

(i) Market risk management (i) TEERERE(E)
(Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) SN L (48 )
The Group (Continued) FEMW(E)
Liabilities
=N
2012
—E——fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Renminbi AR 205 458
Macau Pataca SEPY 2,214 107
The Company has no foreign REE B - AR AW &I
currency denominated monetary INETIEzEBEERE
assets and liabilities at the f& °
reporting date.
In the opinion of the directors, EERBINEIERFTEE
the foreign exchange exposure [E B A2 S0 A E K - E it
derived therefrom is relatively BB EITHRE DT »

insignificant to the Group’s
operations and hence no
sensitivity analysis is performed
accordingly.
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40. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 40. HEEBEERRKMEIE(Z)

Management (Continued)

(a) HIBRABERE)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management and
policies (Continued)

(b) HHEEBEZERKE(E)

(i) Market risk management () TEREEEE(E)
(Continued)
Interest rate risk 2= [ fax
The Group’s interest rate risk AEBZHNERBREERE
is primarily from the convertible ZEEMEBEITZ AT RKRE
bonds issued at fixed rate % SAKBAEEQFER
which exposes the Group to KRB o ANEE B AT A
fair value interest rate risk. The EEREE - A - BIEE
Group currently does not have ERMNERKR  WEREH
an interest rate hedging policy. ZREREHREKNFER
However, the management % o
monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure
should the need arises.

(i)  Credit risk management (i) 1EEREEEE

As at 31 December 2012, the
Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due
to failure to perform an obligation
by the counterparties is the
carrying amount of the respective
recognized financial assets
as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

NZT—=—F+=—RA=+—
H AfLBFEHZ&=E
EREGEEE T REBIT
R VNGIL = A B
18) BERE B IS AR SR ATt
ARV K EEZRE
=
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40. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 40. HEEBEERRKREIR(Z)
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HBEREE(E)

(b) Financial risk management and (b)) HBEBREERBE(E)
policies (Continued)

(i) Credit risk management (i) (EEERERE(E)

(Continued)

In order to minimize the RBEAEBEEWERZEE
credit risk in relation to trade Rk EEEDINREER
receivables, the management fl - FEEM R ERE
has strengthened the credit FF o DAREIRERERER #E1T B BA
limits, credit approvals and U el e BRE 7 - bboh - B3R
other monitoring procedures to ERE®RERPHEERTS
ensure that follow-up action is B85 8 5 &8z KE &
taken to recover overdue debts. B UNBERERAATKRES
In addition, the management BIEL BB EEE - it
reviews the recoverable amount ms ' ERERR  A&EE
of each individual trade debt at ZEERBEAKNRE -

each reporting date to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts.
In this regard, the management
considers that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is HRR 5T REBH RES
limited because the majority of i 2 RITHEBEREEFTR
the counterparties are reputable EERTEEEFRZR
banks or banks with high credit T BWRBEE 2 EERR
ratings assigned by international AR -

credit-rating agencies.
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40. Financial Risk and Capital Risk

Management (Continued)
(a) Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management and
policies (Continued)

(ii)  Credit risk management
(Continued)

There was no exposure to credit
risk since there was no trade
receivables as at reporting date.

(iii)  Liquidity risk management

In the management of the liquidity
risk, the management manages
its funds conservatively by
maintaining a comfortable level
of cash and cash equivalents
in order to meet continuous
operational need. Various
bank facilities and credit lines
will be considered to fund any
emergency liquidity requirements.
The Group relies on fund raising
activities from issuance of rights
shares and placing of ordinary
shares as well as shareholder’s
loans as principal sources of
liquidity.
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40. HEEBEERRKMEIE(Z)

(a) HIBRABERE)

(b)) HIBEBREEREEE)

(i)

(iii)

EERBREE (&)

PR 74 £ B 3 4 8 55 M3
A T 1 R -

B E LA R B
REBRBERARE - &
BEEBERRAKTZR
ehReEEY  RTER
HED  NEMNHELLH
T AEEKEELHERIT
BMEREEEE - UAEM
\mmﬁéﬁﬁ%kﬁé

o NER B A MR BT AR AR
@&E%ﬁ%%Z%EE@
MBEREREARBDES Z
FEHRIR -
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40. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management and
policies (Continued)

40. HEEBEERRKREIR(Z)

()

MBEBRER(E)

(b) HHEEBEZERKE(E)

(iii)  Liquidity risk management (iii)  TEEZEEEE(E)
(Continued)
The following tables detail the TRFMAEERAR B
Group’s and the Company’s HUBBECHTELHEH
remaining contractual maturity B DERMBEEZR
for its financial liabilities, which MRBEEREARANER R
are based on the undiscounted ZN/NESI Y ER- R o = =
cash flows of financial liabilities HifE - TREFEMERE
and the earliest date on which BMEME °
the Group and the Company can
be required to pay. The tables
include both interest and principal
cash flows.
The Group AEE
On demand or Total  Total carrying
less than More than  un-discounted amount at
1 year 1 year cash flows 3111212012
R=8-Z%
RERE ARRRE  tZA=t-A
HR-F SR-& hEAE ZEEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
Vi aA Vol h BETT Vil aA
2012 Sl =
Bank borrowing BEE 1,358 8,034 9,392 7,176
Other payables Ef TR 10,487 - 10,487 10,487
Amount due to a shareholder  FEfTfER - 50,541 50,541 50,541
Amount due to a director EREZNE 1,005 = 1,005 1,005
Convertible bonds hRES 16,480 120,000 136,480 120,654
Promissory note EES: - 9,810 9,810 8,456
29,330 188,385 217,115 198,319
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40. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 40. BiERBRRELARKBRER(Z)
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HMERKREEE)

(b) Financial risk management and (b)) HBEBREERBE(E)
policies (Continued)

(iii)  Liquidity risk management (iii)  TEEZEEEE(E)
(Continued)
The Group AEE
On demand or Total  Total carrying
less than More than ~ un-discounted amount at
1 year 1 year cash flows 31/12/2011
RIZ——%
BERT AUBRE  +tZA=1-A
S5 -5 neeg pd i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT E¥TT BT BT

2011 3

Bank borrowing BEE 1,326 9,319 10,645 8,099
Other payables Ef TR 13,048 - 13,048 13,048
Amount due to a shareholder  JEf iR FUE 34,494 - 34,494 34,494
Amount due to a director EREZHE 302 - 302 302
Convertible bonds hRES - 120,000 120,000 91,894
Promissory note ANERE - 9,540 9,540 7,842

49,170 138,859 188,029 155,679
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40. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 40. HEEBEERRKREIR(Z)

Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HBEREE(E)

(b) Financial risk management and (b)) HBEBREERBE(E)

policies (Continued)

(iii)  Liquidity risk management (iii)  TEEZEEEE(E)
(Continued)
The Company ¥ /N
On demand or Total  Total carrying
less than More than  un-discounted amount at
1 year 1 year cash flows 3111212012
R-B-Z%
REXY AE¥EEE T-A=1-H
HSR-F BR-F REAE ZBEAE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BT BEFL Vi A BEFT
2012 —2—_f
Amount due to a shareholder ~ FEfTIRE B - 12,333 12,333 12,333
Other payables EthEMFE 5,837 - 5,837 5,837
Convertible bonds MERES 16,480 120,000 136,480 120,654
Promissory note ARED - 9,810 9,810 8,456
22,317 142,143 164,460 147,280
On demand or Total  Total carrying
less than More than  un-discounted amount at
1 year 1 year cash flows 31/12/2011
RZF——F
BRERY FERRE  t-A=1-H
PR—F HR—F MEEH LEHBE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BEFT AEFT BETT
2011 FF
Amount due to a shareholder  FETREZUE 15,910 - 15,910 15,910
Other payables EERTE 5,568 — 5,568 5,568
Convertible bonds MRRES - 120,000 120,000 91,894
Promissory note ESNES: - 9,810 9,810 7,842
21,478 129,810 151,288 121,214
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40. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(b)

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or
sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry,
the Group monitors capital on the basis
of the net debt-to-equity ratio. This ratio
is calculated as net debt divided by total
equity. Net debt is calculated as total
liabilities (including current and non-current
liabilities as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position) less cash and
cash equivalents. Total equity represents
the equity as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

40.

B¥ERRERRBRER(E)

(b)

EXEBER

AEBEREAZ BNRREAEE R
BREZEN  UABRRREHRERNES
Hip MR EREMNE YRR RE
BB ARIEE AR

RERLFHBEARE  AEEATAE
ENTERRZBEEESHE REBEATK
R BITHRDRHEEENRET

HENEMEE K AREIRFER
DL RERER o LRUFEBR
e E  FEBUNERE(RELR
BUBHARKRATRZRB SR EE)
BEERREEEYAE - BRERELR
EMBIRRRAR 2B ©
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40. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 40.

Management (Continued)
(b) Capital risk management (Continued)

During 2012, the Group’s strategy, which
was unchanged from 2011, was to maintain
the net debt-to-equity ratio at an acceptable
level. The net debt-to-equity ratios at 31
December 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

BERRERRRER(E)

(b)

BEXRBRERE)

R-F—ZFR AKEZRBE(B=F
——FREFTE) Rl FESHESL
REFRAERKE - RZF——FR
—E——H+ZA=+—BZFEKY
R RN

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BEFT
Total debts HBER 200,797 160,316
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B BekBeEED (1,668) (4,200)
Net debt FERS 199,129 156,116
Total equity ERE LS 1,290,843 1,372,482
Net debt-to-equity ratio FERE R 15% 1%
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40. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 40. BRRABRERRMER(Z)
Management (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (c) MBIAZAFE

The fair values of financial assets and MBEERVBBECAFEERUTH

financial liabilities are determined as follows: AEFE :

. The fair values of financial assets and . BEAZ B TR R AR 3 72 )5 B T 45
financial liabilities with standard terms BEBECUWBEERMBEZAF
and conditions and traded in active BEDNHRR2EMSRZEAR
markets are determined with reference MELHEMET &

to quoted market bid and ask prices
respectively; and

. The fair values of other financial assets . EwyBEERMBAGZAYF
and financial liabilities are determined BENRE—REAZEEBEXNR
in accordance with generally accepted BAARESMENTMETE °

pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis.

Except as detailed in the following table, the BRIRFAFREIN  EERR/NEGEEN
Directors consider that the carrying amounts BHRERBRZUBEERYBAEZER
of financial assets and financial liabilities HEEELAFERE

recognised in the consolidated financial
statements approximate to their fair values:

2012 2011
—E—_—F

Carrying Carrying
amount  Fair value amount Fair value
AR E NFE IREE N¥E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETFT BEFT BETT BT T

Financial liabilities g S =R
Convertible bonds AT AR S 5 120,654 127,434 91,894 107,010
Promissory note EINES 8,456 8,456 7,842 7,842
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41. Particulars of Subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31

December 2012 were as follows:

Place of
incorporation/ Forms of
Name of subsidiary operation legal entity
WEAEAH i/ EE EERREA
Kanstar Environmental Technology British Virgin Islands International Business
Group Limited EBENEE Company
BRABAT
Win Easy International Limited British Virgin Islands International Business
KBRS Company
AREHAT

Polyard Petroleum Resources

British Virgin Islands

International Business

Development Inc ARRAES Company
BREHAA
Mexford Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands International Business

ABRUEE Company
BREHAA

Carson Coal Trading Co., Limited Hong Kong Limited Liability
EEERHERRAR & Company
BREMAA

China New Star Petroleum Drilling Hong Kong Limited Liability
Senices Co., Ltd &k Company
HEHE AR REERAR ERELAT

Modern Lucky International Limited Hong Kong Limited Liability
MERERARAA E Company
EREELT

Polyard Petroleum (Hong Kong) Limited ~ Hong Kong Limited Liability
BEAR(ER)ERAA B Company
BREEAT

41. MiEBARFHE

NZB——F+-A=1+—8 ' KRATZHE

NAFIHEET
Issued and
fully paid  Proportion of nominal value of
share capital/ issued capital/registered capital
registered held by the Company
capital  AAREBZCRORE/
EEAR AMERFHEEELS
HrBA/ Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
&R E# BE IZER
US$1,000 100% —  Investment holding
1,000%7 RERR
USS$t 100% —  Investment holding
1% RABR
USs1 100% —  Investment holding
1% RERR
US$50,000 — 100%  Investment holding
50,000 %7 RERK
HKS1 - 100%  Trading of minerals and
BB energy products
BYRERERER
HK$30,000,000 — 100%  Provision of drilling
75130,0000007C services for oil and
gas projects
RENFEEEREE
HKS2 — 100%  Investment holding
g RERR
HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
BB RERR
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41. Particulars of Subsidiaries (Continued) 41. MEBARFE(E)
Issued and
fully paid  Proportion of nominal value of
share capital/ issued capital/registered capital
registered held by the Company
Place of capitalt  KAREEZDEARE/
incorporation/ Forms of EEAR HEMERAEEEL S
Name of subsidiary operation legal entity HERE/ Directly Indirectly ~ Principal activities
WEAR AR e g EERRYD &R E# B IEER
Xian Polyard Petrochemical Limited PRC Limited Liability RMB1,000,000 = 51%  Trading of petroleum-
AZBRAMEIERAR e Company AR related products
BREAAT 1,000,0007C EERNERER
Polyard Petroleum International Macau Limited Liability MOP40,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited i Company 40,000,000 RERR
ERRAERERAA G AT
China Sino Qil Co., Ltd Macau Limited Liability MOP10,000,000 - 100%  Petro-chemical Product
HERERRERAR i Company 10,000,000 dealing
EREAAT R EERMEBER
Sinotech Polyard Petroleum Exploration  Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$100,000 — 70%  Provision of
& Development Resources Research &8 Company 100,000 consultancy services
Institute Limited EREAAT for oil and gas
PHERA AR AR AR AR ERAT exploration and
development
REBFHRIER
Bk
Sinotech Polyard (Beijing) Resource PRC Limited Liability HK$4,000,000 — 92.5%  Provision of
Science and Technology Limited HE Company 784,000,000 70 consultancy services
HREAGLR)ERREERAT EREAAT for oil and gas
exploration and
development
REARBRRER
BRRH
Polyard International Mining Company ~ Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$1,000,000 — 100%  Investment holding
Limited B Company 711,000,0007 BBk
BREREZERAT EREAAT
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BE_F——F 1 -H="1—HIFE
41. Particulars of Subsidiaries (Continued) 41. B ARFHE(E)
Issued and
fully paid  Proportion of nominal value of
share capital/ issued capital/registered capital
registered held by the Company
Place of capitalt  KAREEZDEARE/
incorporation/ Forms of EEAR HEMERAEEEL S
Name of subsidiary operation legal entity HERE/ Directly Indirectly
HELIER e g FEERYA hEs ER B
Polyard Petroleum Philippines Company  Philippines Limited Liability PHP10,000,000 — 100%
Limited, Inc. HEZE Company 10,000000%%
EREEAT
Mass Leader Inc. British Virgin Islands International Business US$50,000 = 51%
EBRAEE Company 50,000%T
BREHAT
China International Mining Petroleum ~ Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$10,000,000 = 100%
Company Limited B Company 710,000,000
HEEREERAERAT BREMRA

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt

securities at the end of the year.

Principal activities

IERH

Mineral and energy
related business

RIRERERH

Investment holding

Mineral and energy
related business

RORERABRH

REL  BENBARBITEMNEEES °
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EFETBEEE

The summarised consolidated results, assets and AEENBEREAVRFECRAEE BEXRE
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, BE2HME(REEAEBR  LERGAVBHRE)H
as extracted from the audited consolidated financial FEAT

statements of the Group, are set out below:

Results 5

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—HILEE
2009 2010 2011
—ETNF ZE-TF T——F
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BB F T B F T B F T BT T BEF T

Turnover BT 21,640 3,196 826 609 462
Profit/(loss) FEAE =R,
attributable to (B#8)
— owners of the — RRA7A
the Company WA A (316,756) (95,157) (66,110) 302,282 (61,342)
— Non-controlling — FESEHIME
interests s (1,936) (67) (452) (3,305) (7,068)

(318,692) (95,224) (66,562) 298,977 (68,410)
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Assets and Liabilities EEREGE

At 31 December
R+t=BA=+—H
2010

—E-TF

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$°000
BETT  BETT  BETT W EETT W BETX

Total assets WBE 952,783 924,840 983,113 1,532,798 1,491,640
Total liabilities FN=Li (873,570) (436,727) (360,776) (160,316) (200,797)
Net assets FEE 579,213 488,113 622,337 1,372,482 1,290,843
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